REGULATION OF HUMAN GROWTH HORMONE RECEPTOR EXPRESSION BY MICRORNAS IN HEK293 CELLS

Samar Elzein

Department of Medicine

Division of Experimental Medicine

McGill University

Montreal, Quebec, Canada

April 2014

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree

of Master of Science

Samar Elzein © 2014.

DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my roots and shoots in this world, My dear parents, Abdullah and Souheila Elzein

and

My precious sons: Samer and Hi With my love ...

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1 19

GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	19
1.1 Growth Hormone Synthesis and Secretion	
1.3 Pathophysiological Roles of GH	
1.4 The Growth Hormone Receptor (GHR)	23
1.5 Regulation of <i>GHR</i> Gene Expression	
1.6 The GH/GHR Signalling Pathways	
1.6.1 JAK-STAT pathway	
1.6.2 ERK/MAPK pathway	
1.6.3 PI3K pathway	
1.6.4 SRC kinase pathway	
1.7 Inhibitors of GHR Signaling	
1.8 Disregulation of GHR Expression	
1.8.1 Growth and metabolic disorders	
1.8.2 Association of GHR with cancer	
1.9 MicroRNAs	
1.9.1 MicroRNA discovery	
1.9.2 MiRNA nomenclature	
1.9.3 MiRNA biogenesis	
1.9.4 MiRNA functional analysis	
1.9.5 Roles of miRNAs	
1.9.6 Aberrant miRNA activities	
1.10 Hypothesis and Objective of the Study	47
CHAPTER 2	52
REGULATION OF HUMAN GROWTH HORMONE RECEPTOR EXPRESSION BY	
MICRORNAS IN HEK293 CELLS	52

2.1 Abstract	53
2.2 Introduction	54
2.3 Materials and Methods	56
2.3.1 PCR amplification and cloning of the wild type GHR 3'UTR into the pmiR-Lucif	erase vector
	56
2.3.2 Mutagenesis	57
2.3.3 Cell culture conditions and transfections	57
2.3.4 Luciferase and β -galactosidase measurements	58
2.3.5 RNA and miRNA extractions and cDNA synthesis	58
2.3.6 Quantitative PCR (qPCR)	59
2.3.7 miRNA expression in HEK293 cells	59
2.3.8 Immunoblotting	60
2.3.9 Statistical Analysis	61
2.4 Results	61
2.4.1 Mapping the human GHR 3'UTR sequence for potential miR binding sites	61
2.4.2 Endogenous levels of miRs in HEK293 cells	
2.4.3 In vitro testing for miR regulation of the human GHR 3'UTR	
2.4.4 Determining the specificity of the miRNA sites in GHR 3'UTR	63
2.4.5 The effect of individual miRs on endogenous GHR mRNA and protein levels in H	IEK293 cells
	64
2.5 Discussion	65
CHAPTER 3	83
FINAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	83
3.1 GHR-Regulating MiRNAs	
3.2 Alternative MiRNA Regulatory Mechanisms	90

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to all the people who have supported me through this journey. Foremost, my sincere gratitude goes to Dr. Cindy G. Goodyer, my supervisor whose rich expertise, infinite dedication, deep understanding, outstanding mentorship and motherly advices added considerably to my graduate and personal experiences. Dear Cindy, I cannot thank you enough for giving me this chance to work and study in your lab and for your patience in correcting multiple versions of this thesis. Further, I would like to thank my committee members: Dr. Janusz Rak, Dr. Michael Witcher and Dr. Thomas Duchaine for their time, useful comments, and insightful remarks through the committee meetings of my master studies. Furthermore, I would like to thank Dr. Jun Li Yun for reviewing my thesis and for his remarks and valuable suggestions.

Great appreciation goes to my lab mates: Christel Dias, Alena Nakonechnaya and Chris Pagano for their support, fruitful conversation, and for sharing their knowledge and good time with me through out my years of study in the CGG lab. A special "Merci!!" to Christel for translating the abstract of this thesis.

I want to extend my appreciation for my friends: Racha, Melina, Maha, Irina, Juan and Ming for their support, encouragement and for lifting my spirit in bloomy days. Unlimited thanks and appreciation are for my dear friend Manal for her constant support, and her help in creating table of contents of this thesis.

My sincere and special thanks go to my dear family; Thanks to my mother for all of the sacrifices that you've made on my behalf. Your love and prayers for me were what sustained me thus far. My love and thanks are for my brothers: Ali, Souheil, Abed, Imad, Samer and Reda and

for my dear sister, Ghada, for their unconditional love and constant support that made my life better, brighter and warmer with their love and care.

My study was supported by operating funds from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CGG) and by studentships from both: Division of Experimental Medicine and Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism at McGill University (SE) for whom I thank gratefully in an era of research funding cuts.

PUBLICATION ARISING FROM THIS THESIS

Article

Samar Elzein[,] and Cynthia G Goodyer. "Regulation of human growth hormone receptor expression by microRNAs in HEK293 cells". (Submitted to Molecular Endocrinology journal and is under review)

Published abstracts

S. Elzein, C. G. Goodyer. "Regulation of Human Growth Hormone Receptor Expression by MicroRNAs." (American Society for Cell Biology, San Francisco, CA, USA **Dec 2012**)

S. Elzein, C. G. Goodyer. "Regulation of Human Growth Hormone Receptor Expression by MicroRNAs." (13th Annual McGill Biomedical Graduate Conference, Montreal, QC, CANADA, **March 2013**)

S. Elzein, C. G. Goodyer. "Regulation of Human Growth Hormone Receptor Expression by MicroRNAs." (Breakthroughs in Reproduction and Development Research Day, Montreal, QC, CANADA, **May 2013**)

S. Elzein, C. G. Goodyer. "Regulation of Human Growth Hormone Receptor Expression by MicroRNAs." (Montreal Children's Hospital Research Day 2013, Montreal, QC, CANADA, **May 2013**)

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Samar Elzein and Cynthia G Goodyer."Regulation of human growth hormone receptor expression by microRNAs in HEK293 cells".

All the experimental design and work, graphic and manuscript preparation, and data analyses were completed at the MCH-RI by me. Dr. Cindy G Goodyer edited and reviewed the manuscript.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Regulation of Growth Hormone secretion	48
Figure 1.2: Schematic representation of the human <i>GHR</i> gene and protein	49
Figure 1.3: GH/GHR major intracellular signaling pathways	50
Figure 1.4: MiRNA biogenesis pathway	51
Figure 2.1: Putative miR binding sites in the human <i>GHR</i> 3'UTR	76
Figure 2.2: Endogenous levels of miRs in HEK293 cells	77
Figure 2.3: Effect of miRs on the Luc-GHR 3'UTR reporter vector	78
Figure 2.4: Reporter assays of wild type and mutant <i>GHR</i> 3'UTR vectors	80
Figure 2.5: Studies of the effect of miRs on endogenous GHR at the mRNA level	81

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Primers used to introduce mutations into the miR seed sequences in the wild type	
GHR-3'UTR luciferase vector	69
Table 2.2: Qiagen primers used to amplify the endogenous mature miRNAs in HEK293	
cells	70
Table 2.3: Priority list of miRNAs to test for a functional role at the GHR 3'UTR	71

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

3'UTR	3' untranslated region
3'RACE	Rapid amplification of cDNA 3'end
5'UTR	5' untranslated region
Ago2	Argonaut protein 2 (catalytic component of RISC complex)
AKT	A serine-threonine protein kinase , also known as protein kinase B.
B-CLL	B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia
BIC	B-cell integration cluster
C/EBPs	CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein
CGD	Constitutional growth delay
CIS	Cytokine-inducible SH2-containing protein
DGCR8	DiGeorge critical region 8 protein
ECD	Extracellular domain
EGR-1	Early growth response protein 1
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinases
GH	Growth Hormone
GHBP	GH binding protein
GHD	GH deficiency
GHI	GH insensitivity
GHRH	Growth hormone releasing hormone
GHRHR	Growth hormone releasing hormone receptor
Grb2	Growth factor receptor-bound protein 2

HER2	Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
HIF-1α	Hypoxia inducible factor 1, alpha subunit
ICD	Intracellular domain
IGF-I	Insulin-like growth factor-I
IGF-IR	Insulin-like growth factor-I receptor
IGFBP3	IGF binding protein 3
IRS1, 2 and 3	Insulin receptor substrate 1, 2 and 3
ISS	Idiopathic short stature
JAK2	Janus kinase 2
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
MiRNA or miR	MicroRNA
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
mTORC1	mTOR complex1
NF-Y	Nuclear transcription factor Y
NF-ĸB	Nuclear Factor kB protein
PI3K	Phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase
РКВ	Protein kinase B
PLA2	Phospholipase A ₂
PTPs	Protein tyrosine phosphatases
RAF-1	Proto-oncogene serine/threonine-protein kinase-1
REM	Rapid eye movement
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
SH2	SRC homology domain 2

SMC4	Structural maintenance of chromosomes 4
SOS	Son of sevenless
SS	Somatostatin
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
TMD	Transmembrane domain
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor α
Wnt	Wingless-related MMTV integration site family member

ABSTRACT

The pleiotropic actions of human growth hormone (GH) result from its binding to its receptor (GHR) on target cells and the downstream activation of multiple intracellular signaling pathways, leading to changes in gene expression, differentiation and metabolic activity. Previous studies have associated GHR deficiency with growth disorders while GHR overexpression occurs in a wide variety of cancers, suggesting the need to have tight regulation of the *GHR* gene.

Studies of what regulates *GHR* expression at the 5'UTR (promoter) and coding regions have been reported; however, investigations of regulation at the 3'UTR, particularly by microRNAs (miRNAs), has been overlooked. MiRNAs are small (19-21 nt) noncoding RNAs that play an important role in regulating gene expression mainly through targeting the 3'UTR of mRNAs and enhancing degradation or inhibiting translation. In the last decade, extensive biomedical research has demonstrated a critical role for miRNA in many chronic diseases, including cancer. In the present study, we have mapped the *GHR* 3'UTR for potential miRNA binding sites and investigated the role of miRNAs in regulating GHR expression.

We used multiple *in silico* prediction tools based on different algorithms to define several putative miR-binding sites within the *GHR* 3'UTR and prioritized a set of these sites based on conservation across several species, their hybridization energy, the presence of parallel sites in GH/IGF-I axis-related genes, and reports that link specific miRNAs to GHR-related physiological or pathophysiological activities. To test this set, we created a Luc-*GHR* 3'UTR luciferase reporter vector and screened for miRNA binding to the *GHR*-3'UTR and effects on the luciferase activity. Our studies identified miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-202 and miR-16 as

significant inhibitors of human *GHR* expression in HEK293 cells through binding to specific sites. A parallel decrease in endogenous *GHR* mRNA and protein by these miRNAs suggests that they act primarily by degrading *GHR* mRNA. This study paves the way for the development of novel miRNA inhibitors for GHR expression and their potential use as therapeutic agents in GH/GHR axis-related pathophysiologies.

RÉSUMÉ

Les actions pléitropiques de l'hormone de croissance humaine (GH) résultent de sa liaison à son récepteur (GHR) sur les cellules cibles et de l'activation en aval de multiples voies de signalisation conduisant à des changements au niveau de l'expression génique, de la différentiation et de l'activité métabolique. Des études antérieures ont associé une insuffisance du GHR à des problèmes de croissance alors que sa surexpression survient dans une grande variété de cancers, suggérant le besoin d'une étroite régulation du gène *GHR*.

Des études portant sur la régulation de l'expression de *GHR* au niveau du 5'UTR (promoteur) et des régions codantes ont été publiées; cependant, des recherches au niveau de la régulation du 3'UTR, particulièrement par les microARNs (miRNAs) ont été délaissées. Les miRNAs sont de petits (19-21nt) ARNs non codants qui jouent un rôle important dans la régulation de l'expression génique en ciblant essentiellement les 3'UTRs des ARNm donc en augmentant leur dégradation ou en inhibant leur traduction. Dans la dernière décennie, de nombreuses recherches biomédicales ont démontré un rôle critique des miRNAs dans de nombreuses maladies chroniques y compris le cancer. Dans la présente étude, nous avons cartographié des sites de liaison potentiels aux miRNAs dans le 3'UTR du *GHR* et étudié le rôle des miRNAs dans la régulation de l'expression de GHR.

Nous avons utilisé de nombreux outils de prédiction *in silico* basés sur différents algorithmes afin de définir plusieurs sites de liaison potentiels de miRNAs dans le 3'UTR de *GHR*. Nous avons priorisé une partie de ces sites en tenant compte de leur conservation entre plusieurs espèces, de leur énergie d'hybridation, de la présence de sites parallèles dans des gènes reliés à l'axe GH/IGF-I, et d'études reliant spécifiquement des miRNAs à des activités

physiologiques ou pathophysiologiques du GHR. Afin de tester ce groupe de sites, nous avons créé un vecteur rapporteur luciférase Luc-*GHR* 3'UTR et criblé la liaison des miRNAs au 3'UTR de *GHR* et leurs effets sur l'activité de la luciférase. Nos études ont identifié miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-202 and miR-16 comme étant des inhibiteurs significatifs de l'expression de *GHR* dans les cellules HEK293 par leur liaison à des sites spécifiques. Une diminution parallèle de l'ARNm et de la protéine de GHR endogène par ces miRNAs suggère qu'ils agissent principalement en dégradant l'ARNm. Cette étude ouvre la voie au développement d'une nouvelle approche utilisant ces miRNAs afin d'inhiber l'expression de GHR ainsi qu'à leur utilisation potentielle comme des agents thérapeutiques dans des pathophysiologies de l'axe GH/GHR chez l'humain.

CHAPTER 1

GENERAL INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1 Growth Hormone Synthesis and Secretion

Human Growth Hormone (GH) is a 191-amino acid, 20-22 kDa peptide hormone synthesized, stored and secreted by somatotrophs within the anterior lobe of the pituitary gland (Baumann, 2009). GH secretion occurs in a pulsatile manner throughout the day, with a major surge at night during REM sleep (Takahashi *et al.*, 1968; Hartman *et al.*, 1992; Van Cauter *et al.*, 1998). The synthesis and secretion of GH from somatotrophs is a calcium (Ca⁺⁺)-dependent event during which an increase in cytosolic Ca⁺⁺ is required for GH release (Mason *et al.*, 1993). The primary factors that control its synthesis and secretion are the two hypothalamic factors, Growth Hormone Releasing Hormone (GHRH) and somatostatin (SS) (**Figure 1.1**). Under normal physiological conditions, GHRH promotes the synthesis and secretion of GH while somatostatin inhibits its release (Frohman *et al.*, 1992; McElvaine and Mayo, 2006). The GH releasing peptide, ghrelin, is the endogenous ligand for the GH secretagogue receptor and has a small stimulatory effect on GH secretion in humans (Arvat *et al.*, 2000). While ghrelin is produced predominantly by the stomach, it is also synthesized in the hypothalamus and appears to have a role in the integration of energy balance and growth (Wren *et al.*, 2000).

Negative feedback by members of the GH/Insulin-like Growth Factor-I (IGF-I) axis regulates GH synthesis and secretion: in many tissues, but especially in the liver, GH induces IGF-I synthesis and release which, along with GH itself, functions as a negative feedback inhibitor both at the hypothalamic and pituitary levels (Berelowitz *et al.*, 1981; Goodyer *et al.*, 1993) (**Figure 1.1**). Other peripheral endocrine factors, such as glucocorticoids, estrogen, thyroid

hormone and leptin, have effects on GH production and release. Certain physiological factors, including sleep, feeding, stress and obesity, have also been shown to influence GH production, primarily by regulating gene transcription of GH as well as other genes in the GHRH/SS/GH/IGF-I axis (Hartman *et al.*, 1992). In addition to the established production of GH in the anterior pituitary, GH synthesis has been found to occur at a number of extra-pituitary sites, supporting the premise that this peptide hormone has important autocrine and paracrine as well as endocrine effects (Harvey and Hull, 1997; Le Roith *et al.*, 2001).

1.2 Physiological Roles of GH

GH is a major determinant of postnatal growth. In addition, it has significant regulatory effects on protein, carbohydrate and lipid metabolism at all stages of life (Veldhuis *et al.*, 2005; Lichanska and Waters, 2008b; Brooks and Waters, 2010). The biological effects of GH on growth and metabolism involve the simultaneous stimulation of anabolic processes and growth factors in multiple organs and physiological systems both directly and via IGF-I(Le Roith *et al.*, 2001; Lichanska and Waters, 2008b; Rotwein, 2012). GH, together with IGF-I, promotes longitudinal bone growth and enhances bone mineral density by stimulating chondrocyte precursor proliferation and differentiation and bone remodelling, respectively (Isaksson *et al.*, 1987; Yakar *et al.*, 2002; van der Eerden *et al.*, 2003). GH increases fasting serum glucose levels by stimulating gluconeogenesis and glycogenolysis in hepatocytes and also by decreasing the use of glucose in peripheral tissues by inhibiting glycogen synthesis and oxidation of glucose (Moller *et al.*, 1991; Cornblath and Ichord, 2000; Moller and Jorgensen, 2009).

Similarly, GH has anabolic effects on protein synthesis/turnover and is well known to increase the uptake of amino acids in liver, skeletal muscle and adipose tissue (Jorgensen *et al.*,

1989; Fryburg *et al.*, 1991; Copeland and Nair, 1994; Fryburg and Barrett, 1999). It increases nitrogen retention by increasing protein synthesis, inhibition of protein degradation or both (Rooyackers and Nair, 1997; Mauras and Haymond, 2005; Moller *et al.*, 2009). In the liver, GH promotes positive nitrogen balance by decreasing degradation of amino acids through the urea cycle, resulting in increased protein synthesis (Grofte *et al.*, 1997). As a result of these properties, GH has been used to treat protein loss in a variety of patients: for example, GH abrogates muscle wasting in AIDS patients, stimulates protein synthesis and promotes wound healing in patients with large burns and alleviates pain and stiffness in fibromyalgia patients (Gore *et al.*, 1991; Gilpin *et al.*, 1994; Low *et al.*, 1999; Hart *et al.*, 2001). In contrast, GH exerts catabolic effects on adipose tissues by stimulating lipolysis as well as lipid oxidation by increasing substrate availability, resulting in increased free fatty acids levels in the blood (Le Roith *et al.*, 2001; Moller and Jorgensen, 2009; Jorgensen *et al.*, 2010).

In addition to its important effects on growth and metabolism, GH serves diverse roles within the body including, but not limited to, the development and function of the immune system, especially B and T cells (Hattori *et al.*, 2001; Tesselaar and Miedema, 2008), promoting mammary gland development and lactation (Kleinberg, 1997; Kleinberg and Ruan, 2008), stimulating liver regeneration (Krupczak-Hollis *et al.*, 2003), and helping reconstitution of intestinal epithelial integrity following mucosal injury (Lal *et al.*, 2000). New research continues to reveal other potential roles of GH, including the regulation of cardiac function, mental agility and aging (Lanning and Carter-Su, 2006).

21

1.3 Pathophysiological Roles of GH

Because of the extensive effects of GH, any changes from its normal expression pattern can result in multiple acute and chronic endocrine and metabolic disorders (Kopchick and Okada, 2001). GH deficiency (GHD) leads to a reduction in the generation of GH-dependent factors, particularly IGF-I and its major binding protein, IGF binding protein 3 (IGFBP3), with auxological, clinical, and biochemical sequelae (Ayling, 2004). The majority of GHD clinical cases results from molecular defects in the GH gene or genes for different transcription factors that regulate the development of the anterior pituitary hormone secretory cells (Dattani, 2003; Bona *et al.*, 2004). GHD can also be acquired following head trauma or brain surgery. Patients born with GHD have a dwarf phenotype: they are short, accumulate fat around the waist area, and have reduced muscle mass and energy. Fortunately, the majority responds to exogenous GH, which leads to subsequent normalization of IGF-I levels, growth and metabolism.

In contrast, excessive production of GH by GH-secreting pituitary adenomas leads to two clinical disorders of GH that are distinguished by the age of onset. Pre-pubertal onset of GH overexpression is rare and causes gigantism, while post-pubertal onset results in acromegaly. The latter is characterized by the overgrowth of acral and soft tissues, severe debilitating arthritic features, skin thickening, thyroid enlargement, impaired cardiovascular function, sleep apnea, glucose intolerance and diabetes. In both cases, biochemical characteristics include elevated levels of GH and IGF-I. Trans-sphenoidal surgical and pharmacological interventions are presently the treatments of choice for both gigantism and acromegaly (Newman, 1999; Kopchick and Okada, 2001).

1.4 The Growth Hormone Receptor (GHR)

The ability of GH to exert its biological effects in target tissues is intimately linked to the number and functional status of its receptor, GHR. GHR is widely expressed but it is most abundant in major GH target tissues such as liver, muscle, bone and adipose. The human *GHR* gene is located on chromosome 5 at 5p13.1-p12, where it spans more than 300kb (Barton *et al.*, 1989; Godowski *et al.*, 1989; Goodyer *et al.*, 2001). It contains several non-coding 5'UTRs that give rise to 14 different mRNAs, each with a unique 5'UTR, but all of which code for a single protein through splicing into the same site upstream of the translation start site in the first coding exon (Pekhletsky *et al.*, 1992; Goodyer *et al.*, 2001; Orlovskii *et al.*, 2004; Wei *et al.*, 2006). The gene also consists of nine coding exons (2 to 10) (Ross *et al.*, 1997) (**Figure 1.2A**). The 4.5 kb *GHR* transcript is more than twice as large as the minimum 1.9 kb necessary to encode the 638 amino acids receptor/signal peptide molecule. The majority of the "excess" size of the *GHR* mRNA is due to the presence of an ~2.5 kb 3'UTR (Edens and Talamantes, 1998) (**Figure 1.2B**).

1.5 Regulation of GHR Gene Expression

Multiple studies, in our lab and elsewhere, have characterized regulation of the *GHR* gene by different transcription factors, which include, but are not limited to, Sp1 (Yu et al., 1999), MSY-1 (Schwartzbauer et al., 1998), C/EBPs, NF-Y, HES-1, CHOP, ETS1, GAF, GFI-1 (Goodyer *et al.*, 2001; Wei *et al.*, 2009; Kenth *et al.*, 2011), TNF α , HIF-1 α and dexamethasone (Yu et al., 1999; Erman et al., 2011). These transcriptional factors regulate GHR expression by acting as downstream nuclear effectors, linking specific signaling cascades that are triggered by different growth factor-, developmental-, nutritional- or stress-related stimuli. Despite the extensive regulatory studies of *GHR* at its 5'UTR, potential regulation at the 3'UTR has been overlooked. 3'UTRs of mRNAs are critical both for the targeting of transcripts to specific subcellular compartments and for translational control (Andreassi and Riccio, 2009).

1.6 The GH/GHR Signalling Pathways

The human GHR is an N-glycosylated homodimeric transmembrane protein. It is a member of the cytokine receptor superfamily, which includes receptors for prolactin, erythropoietin, thrombopoietin, and several interleukins, among others (Argetsinger and Carter-Su, 1996). Members of the cytokine receptor superfamily are single transmembrane proteins that lack intrinsic kinase activity and share certain structural motifs, including multiple paired cysteine residues in the extracellular domain and Box1, an eight residue proline-rich sequence located 10-20 amino acids below the transmembrane domain (Godowski *et al.*, 1989). There are two classes of cytokine receptors, I and II. GHR belongs to the class I group, which is distinguished by the presence of a conserved WSXWS motif just above the transmembrane region; the GHR is unique in that it contains a YGEFS motif (**Figure 1.2C**). Even though this motif does not directly interact with GH, alanine mutagenesis studies have shown that it is important for ligand binding and subsequent signal transduction (Baumgartner *et al.*, 1994).

Cloning of the *GHR* gene in 1987 opened the door to extensive investigations of how GH functions at the target cells. The *GHR* gene encodes a 638 amino acid protein (**Figure 1.2C**). In addition to the signal peptide (residues 1–18), the hGHR can be structurally divided into three domains: an extracellular domain (ECD), encoded by exons 2–7 (residues 19–264); a single transmembrane domain (TMD), encoded primarily by exon 8 (residues 265–288); and an

intracellular domain (ICD), encoded by exons 9 and 10 (residues 289–638) (**Figure 1.2C**). The ECD of the GHR consists of two functional subdomains: subdomain 1 (residues 19–141) is involved in GH binding, while subdomain 2 (residues 146–264) is involved in receptor dimerization and GH-induced receptor rotation (Behncken and Waters, 1999; Poger and Mark, 2010). The ICD contains the proline-rich motif termed Box 1, which is required for Janus kinase 2 (JAK2) association (**Figures 1.2C and 1.3**).

1.6.1 JAK-STAT pathway

GH binding to a dimer of GHR results in a structural conformation, inducing the rotation of one receptor subunit relative to the other (Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2007; Poger and Mark, 2010). This conformational change repositions the intracellular domains such that the Box 1-associated JAK2s transphosphorylate each other at specific tyrosine residues and phosphorylate several GHR intracellular tyrosines (Y534, Y566, and Y627), which then act as docking sites for signaling molecules containing Src homology 2 (SH2) domains (Rowlinson *et al.*, 2008; Derr *et al.*, 2011; Rotwein, 2012) (**Figure 1.3**).

The major pathways include the signal transducers and activators of transcription (STAT), the extracellular signal-regulated kinase/mitogen-activated protein kinase (ERK/MAPK) and the phosphatidylinositol 3'kinase (PI3K) cascades (Behncken and Waters, 1999; Herrington and Carter-Su, 2001; Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2007; Rowlinson *et al.*, 2008; Xu and Messina, 2009). Collectively, activation of these signaling pathways mediates the biological effects of GH on growth and metabolism (**Figure 1.3**).

The STAT family of transcription factors is key in mediating GH/GHR biological effects on growth and the immune system. It consists of seven protein members, of which GH-activated JAK2 phosphorylates at least four (STAT1, 3, 5a and 5b) to regulate a variety of genes. Although STAT5a and 5b are encoded by highly related genes that share 95% homology, it is STAT5b that has been implicated as the major mediator of growth through GH/GHR activation (Vidarsdottir *et al.*, 2006; Xu and Messina, 2009). JAK2 phosphorylates the docked STAT5bs on the activated GHR; they subsequently dissociate from GHR, form homodimers and translocate to the nucleus, where they drive transcriptional regulation of STAT5b-dependent genes (e.g. *IGF-1*, *IGFBP-3*, *ALS* and *SOCS1-3*) (**Figure 1.3**) (Shuai, 1999; Levy and Darnell, 2002; Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2007). Targeted disruption of STAT5a and b results in defects in liver gene expression, body growth and immune function similar to what is observed with GH or GHR deficiencies (Udy *et al.*, 1997; Vidarsdottir *et al.*, 2006; Rosenfeld *et al.*, 2007).

1.6.2 ERK/MAPK pathway

A second pathway that is important for GH regulation of gene transcription is the ERK/MAPK pathway that stimulates DNA synthesis and promotes cell cycle progression and survival (Chang and Karin, 2001; Chambard *et al.*, 2007). GH has been shown to activate this pathway by JAK2 phosphorylation of the protein SHC that, in turn, activates a cascade of downstream signaling molecules (GRB2, SOS, RAS, RAF-1, and MEK1/2) to ultimately activate the ERK1-2/MAPK1-3 proteins (**Figure 1.3**), (Zhu *et al.*, 2002; Rowlinson *et al.*, 2008). Interestingly, a targeted mutation of the Box-1 domain of GHR completely abrogates the JAK2-dependent signaling pathways involving STAT5b and PI3K/AKT but does not alter the ERK/MAPK pathway, suggesting that JAK2-independent signaling also occurs (Rowlinson *et al.*, 2008; Barclay *et al.*, 2010). The GH-activated MAPK pathway has been implicated in upregulation of C-*FOS, EGR-1*, and *JUN-B* gene transcription and activation of other protein

kinases (e.g. Elk-1), cytoplasmic phospholipase A₂ and cytoskeletal proteins. These are thought to play an important role in regulating cellular growth and differentiation (Vanderkuur *et al.*, 1997; Hodge *et al.*, 1998).

1.6.3 PI3K pathway

Another major GH-dependent signaling cascade is the PI3K pathway. JAK2- dependent phosphorylation activates the adaptor proteins Insulin Receptor Substrate 1, 2 and 3 (IRS1, 2 and 3); these subsequently provide a binding site for the p85 regulatory subunit of PI3K (Yamauchi et al., 1998) (**Figure 1.3**). Although PI3K is required for insulin-stimulated glucose transport, GH-induced glucose transport has been reported not to require PI3K (Sakaue *et al.*, 1997). However, inhibition of PI3K blocks GH-stimulated lipid synthesis and the anti-lipolytic actions of GH, suggesting that PI3K activity is important for the acute insulin-like actions of GH (Yamauchi *et al.*, 1998). In contrast, chronic effects of GH are anti-insulin-like, promoting insulin resistance and diabetes. Excess GH can lead to chronic activation of the IRS-PI3K pathway in the liver, reducing the insulin-related effects (Dominici *et al.*, 1999).

AKT, also known as protein kinase B (PKB) is the major downstream effector activated by PI3K. Once activated by phosphorylation, pAKT phosphorylates mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), another serine/threonine kinase (**Figure 1.3**). It has been shown that the rapid activation of protein synthesis (minute to hour timescale) by GH involves mTOR complex1 (mTORC1), a key regulator of cell growth. Both GH and mTORC1 play key roles in regulating cell and tissue growth, and a key component of these effects is the stimulation of protein synthesis by activating both the initiation and elongation stages of protein translation (Hayashi and Proud, 2007). Defects in PI3K/AKT signaling have been implicated in many diseases, including cancer (Feng *et al.*, 2005; Wong *et al.*, 2010) and type 2 diabetes (Farese *et al.*, 2005). Together, PI3K and AKT are major mediators of GH signaling, with roles in glucose metabolism, cell proliferation, and anti-apoptosis (Costoya et al., 1999) (**Figure 1.3**).

1.6.4 SRC kinase pathway

Although most GH/GHR downstream-signaling pathways are dependent on JAK2 activity, JAK2-independent pathways have also been identified (Argetsinger and Carter-Su, 1996; Manabe *et al.*, 2006; Brooks *et al.*, 2008). Experimental evidence indicates that GHR signaling can occur through direct activation of several members of the SRC family of protein tyrosine kinases (Manabe *et al.*, 2006; Zhang *et al.*, 2006).

The precise SRC binding site on the GHR remains unknown, but evidence to date suggests that it associates with GHR at the membrane proximal residues of the intracellular domain (Rowlinson *et al.*, 2008).

Members of the SRC family kinases are non-receptor tyrosine kinases that contain SH2, SH3 and tyrosine kinase domains. They are involved in the signaling of many cellular processes, including cell growth, proliferation, differentiation, motility, adhesion, angiogenesis and survival (Yarbro and Howards, 1987; Thomas and Brugge, 1997; Parsons and Parsons, 2004). There is substantial evidence of elevated levels of SRC kinase activity in solid tumors, implicating the SRC pathway in cancer progression and metastatic disease by facilitating the action of other signaling proteins (Homsi *et al.*, 2007).

1.7 Inhibitors of GHR Signaling

Multiple mechanisms are involved in terminating GH/GHR signaling pathways, including the actions of negative regulators, ligand-induced endocytosis and degradation of the GHR and signaling intermediaries. Protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) and the suppressors of cytokine signaling (SOCS) proteins are the two major negative regulators involved in controlling GH/GHR activated signaling (Birzniece et al., 2009). The PTPs function as negative regulators by rapidly dephosphorylating GHR, JAK2 and cellular substrates of JAK2, thus terminating the recruitment of signaling molecules to the receptor for activation (Herrington and Carter-Su, 2001). The SOCS family of proteins is rapidly induced by various cytokines, including GH (Vidal et al., 2007). Out of the eight known members of SOCS family, GH induces the gene expression of SOCS1, SOCS2, SOCS3 and CIS (cytokine-inducible SH2-containing protein) to exert negative feedback on GHR through blocking activation of STAT proteins (Greenhalgh et al., 2005). SOCS proteins contain an SH2 domain able to bind phospho-tyrosine residues in target proteins (e.g. GHR and JAK2) (Ram and Waxman, 1999; Vidal et al., 2007). SOCS2, SOCS3 and CIS also can inhibit JAK2 indirectly by first binding to tyrosine-phosphorylated GHR and then interfering with STAT5b binding (Uyttendaele et al., 2007; Vidal et al., 2007). In addition, evidence implicates the SOCS proteins as possible ubiquitin ligases regulating proteasomal degradation of GHR and JAK2 (Ram and Waxman, 1999; Ungureanu et al., 2002; Vidal et al., 2007). Mice deficient in SOCS2 display an excessive growth phenotype with elevated IGF-I levels, underscoring the significance of SOCS2 for terminating GH/IGF-I signaling (Metcalf et al., 2000; Greenhalgh et al., 2005).

At least two different mechanisms participate in the turnover of the cell surface GHR

protein: proteolytic cleavage and ligand-independent endocytosis (Flores-Morales *et al.*, 2006). The GHR proteolytic cleavage is exerted by two proteinases. A metalloproteinase (ADAM-17) cleaves the extracellular portion of the receptor at the membrane-adjacent part generating the GH binding protein (GHBP). The membrane-bound remnant is then degraded by a γ -secretase complex and targeted for proteasomal degradation (Zhang *et al.*, 2001; Flores-Morales *et al.*, 2006). This mechanism is largely responsible for GHBP release into circulation, but it is not expected to participate in direct termination of GH signaling since it is inhibited by ligand binding to the receptor (Zhang *et al.*, 2001; Flores-Morales *et al.*, 2006). In contrast, GHR endocytosis involves both clathrin-coated pits (Vleurick *et al.*, 1999) and caveolae (Lobie *et al.*, 1999) in a process that is accelerated by GH bound receptors. Internalized receptors are mostly directed to lysosomes and proteasomes for degradation, in a process that requires an intact ubiquitin-conjugating system (Sachse *et al.*, 2001; Flores-Morales *et al.*, 2006).

1.8 Disregulation of GHR Expression

1.8.1 Growth and metabolic disorders

Major growth disorders can occur as a result of abnormal GHR expression: Laron dwarfism, idiopathic short stature (ISS) and constitutional growth delay (CGD) are three classes of growth disorders associated with GH insensitivity (GHI), a term used to describe a clinical condition characterized by low to non-detectable levels of circulating IGF-I in parallel with normal or supra-physiological levels of GH (Rosenfeld *et al.*, 1994; Goh *et al.*, 1997). Mutations in the *GHR* locus can result in GHI by impairing GHR expression and/or function. At one

extreme, homozygous mutations or deletions within the GHR coding region that result in loss of functional GHR are linked to complete GHI (Laron syndrome). These individuals are diagnosed soon after birth because of metabolic instability and a rapid loss in growth rate; they have extreme short stature, very low serum IGF-I levels, increased body mass index, musculo-skeletal abnormalities and hypoglycemia (Savage et al., 2006). In contrast, the majority of children with short stature are diagnosed with ISS. Usually their birth size is normal, but by the end of their first year they are growing below the 3rd percentile. Their clinical profile includes normal or elevated GH concomitant with normal to low serum IGF-I levels, a relatively high body mass index, with no evidence of hypothyroidism, malnutrition, intrauterine growth retardation, systemic disease or specific syndromes. Their circulating GH binding protein levels are often below the mean and 20% have levels >2SD below, suggesting that tissue levels of GHR are chronically low in many of these children (Goddard et al., 1997). Approximately 50% of ISS cases show growth "catch up" at puberty and are reclassified as CGD. The cause of most ISS cases remains undetermined at the genetic level. Only rare cases (< 2%) of mutations in the GHR coding regions have been described in patients with ISS or CGD; thus the classification of these disorders remains "idiopathic" (Goddard et al., 1995; Sanchez et al., 1998; Savage et al., 2002; Bonioli et al., 2005; Hujeirat et al., 2006).

1.8.2 Association of GHR with cancer

Normal growth requires a balance between the activity of genes that promote cell proliferation and those that suppress it, which ensures that healthy functioning cells survive in appropriate environments while damaged or non-functioning cells are eliminated. Cells acquire mutations in these genes as a result of spontaneous and environmentally-induced DNA damage. Over time, these cells become increasingly resistant to the controls that maintain normal functions and, as a result, they start to grow out of control and a tumor can develop. The most important extracellular signaling molecules engaged in maintaining cell survival are growth factors.

The relevance of growth factors to the pathogenesis of human cancers has been long established. One mechanism that contributes to amplification of the signals of these growth factors is overexpression of their receptors and/or hyper-activation of their signaling mediators. GH is one of the growth factors that promote normal growth of tissues through pro-proliferative, anti-apoptotic and pro-angiogenic effects (Veldhuis *et al.*, 2005; Lichanska and Waters, 2008a; Lichanska and Waters, 2008b; Perry *et al.*, 2013). These actions are critical during childhood growth, especially for long bones, but they are also important throughout life for those tissues where there is continual turnover of cells (e.g. the lining of intestinal villi, skin). However, chronic overexpression of any member of the GH/GHR/IGF-I axis and/or hyper-activation of their downstream signaling effectors will promote cell hyperplasia and tumor progression (Sonntag *et al.*, 2000; Yakar *et al.*, 2005; Perry *et al.*, 2006; Johansson *et al.*, 2007; Kleinberg *et al.*, 2009; Brooks and Waters, 2010; Clayton *et al.*, 2011).

The link between GH/GHR/IGF-I axis and cancer goes back as early as 1950, based on clinical observations that hypophysectomy reduced breast cancer progression in women (Luft and Olivecrona, 1957). Multiple recent studies support this association in both human and animal models. For example, acromegalic patients show an increased incidence of colorectal tumors (Ispolatova, 1968; Kurosu *et al.*, 1984; Webb *et al.*, 2002), while studies of individuals with GH/GHR deficiencies have shown decreased incidences of cancer. In a study of a cohort (n=230; 1-75yr; mean=19yr) of Laron syndrome patients (with dysfunctional GHR) collected from all

over the world, not one individual had a clinical history of a tumor (p<0.001) while first-degree relatives had a tumor frequency of 8.3% (Steuerman *et al.*, 2011). In a similar study of an Ecuadorian cohort over a 25 year period, 99 individuals who carry mutations in the *GHR* gene that led to severe GHR deficiency, only one reported a non-lethal malignancy; in contrast there was a 17% cancer prevalence in first-degree relative controls (Guevara-Aguirre *et al.*, 2011). In addition, crossing *GHR*^{-/-} mice with mice prone to prostate or breast neoplasias resulted in decreased incidence and/or progression of the tumors in their offspring (Wang *et al.*, 2005; Zhang *et al.*, 2007b).

Moreover multiple studies have reported GHR overexpression in diverse tumors. *GHR* mRNA and protein were increased 2-5 fold in human colorectal cancer tissues and cell lines relative to controls, suggesting a role for GHR in the progression of colorectal carcinomas (Dagnaes-Hansen *et al.*, 2004; Yang *et al.*, 2004; Yang *et al.*, 2005; Wu *et al.*, 2007). GHR over-expression has also been reported in gastric carcinomas: experimental results indicate that *GHR* mRNA expression is significantly higher in primary gastric adenocarcinoma than in normal gastric mucosa and is significantly correlated with tumor differentiation and tumor grade (Nagano *et al.*, 1995; Lincoln *et al.*, 2007; Lin *et al.*, 2011; Yang *et al.*, 2012; Ran *et al.*, 2013).

Together GH and PRL, through their receptors (GHR and PRLR), play a central role in mammary development (ductal and alveolar development and differentiation) and lactation (Feldman *et al.*, 1993; Kelly *et al.*, 2002; Xu *et al.*, 2011). In addition to its physiological role, several clinical observations and experimental studies have indicated a role for GHR in the development of human breast cancer. Clinical studies have revealed that *GHR* mRNA expression is up-regulated in malignant tissues compared to adjacent normal breast tissue, and its expression is inversely correlated with tumor grade and MIB-1 proliferative index (MIB-1, a

proliferative and prognostic biomarker for breast cancer, is an antibody that recognizes the proliferation marker Ki-67) (Lehr *et al.*, 1999; Gebre-Medhin *et al.*, 2001). Furthermore, in a large genome-wide association study, the GH/GHR signaling pathway was identified as the third most significant pathway correlated with susceptibility to develop a mammary carcinoma (Menashe *et al.*, 2010).

The first report about involvement of the GH/GHR/IGF-I axis in prostate cancer was by Kolle S. *et al.* in 1999; they detected the overexpression of *GHR* mRNA in 21 human prostatic carcinomas and 19 benign prostatic hyperplasias compared to controls suggesting that the growth hormone receptor may facilitate prostatic tumor cell growth and progression (Kolle *et al.*, 1999). In a later study, Chopin *et al.* detected the co-expression of both *GH* and *GHR* mRNA isoforms in the ALVA41, PC3, DU145 and LNCaP prostate cancer cell lines, suggesting the existence of an autocrine-paracrine pathway in the prostate that would be capable of stimulating prostate growth, either directly via GHRs or indirectly via IGF-I production (Chopin *et al.*, 2002). They also have shown that GH can increase the rate of proliferation in these prostate cancer cell lines. In a more recent study, Weiss-Messer *et al.* showed that GH induced rapid, time- and dose-dependent signaling events in LNCaP cells, including the phosphorylation of JAK2, GHR, STAT5A, p42/p44 MAPK and AKT/PKB in parallel with increased levels of androgen receptor. Collectively these results suggest a role for GH in the progression of prostate cancer in concert with other hormones and growth factors (Weiss-Messer *et al.*, 2004).

The GH/GHR axis has also been associated with hematopoietic malignancies, including leukemia. GHR is expressed widely in normal human lymphocytes, including T cells, B cells and many leukemic cell lines (Hattori *et al.*, 2001). Studies by Jeay et al. have suggested a dual effect of the GH/GHR axis on survival and proliferation of the pro-B Ba/F3 cell line (Jeay *et al.*, 2000).

When Ba/F3 cells were transfected with a GHR expression vector and treated with GH, a GH signaling pathway involving the activation of Nuclear Factor (NF)- κ B and the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein, Bcl-2, was shown to mediate the anti-apoptotic effects. Increased concentrations of GH were shown to promote Ba/F3 cell proliferation, which was dependent upon the activation of PI-3K, leading to the induction of the proto-oncogene, c-myc (Dinerstein *et al.*, 1995; Baixeras *et al.*, 2001).

The above evidence strongly suggests an important role for the GH/GHR axis in the progression of multiple malignancies. Thus regulation of this axis at multiple levels must be tightly controlled. One mechanism is to block the deleterious effects at the earliest stage of the signaling, the GHR.

1.9 MicroRNAs

1.9.1 MicroRNA discovery

MicroRNAs (miRNAs or miRs) are newly emerging posttranscriptional regulators of gene expression. They are naturally occurring, ~19-22 nucleotides long, small noncoding RNAs that mainly bind to the 3'UTR of target genes, resulting in mRNA degradation and/or the arrest of mRNA translation (Chen *et al.*, 2004). Computational analysis indicates that more than 60% of protein coding genes may be directly modulated by miRNAs (Siomi and Siomi, 2010). Accumulating experimental evidence indicates that miRNAs extensively regulate gene expression in almost all eukaryotes, influencing numerous aspects of cellular biology, including development, metabolism, proliferation, differentiation, apoptosis, tumorigenesis and innate and

adaptive immune responses (Ambros, 2004; Chang and Mendell, 2007; Schickel *et al.*, 2008; Xiao and Rajewsky, 2009; Mendell and Olson, 2012).

MiRNAs were discovered relatively recently, in 1993, by the Ambros lab in MIT, when they found a noncoding small RNA, Lin4, transcribed from a gene known to control the timing of *C. elegans* larval development. Lin4 had the ability to bind to the mRNA of the *Lin 14* gene and repress its protein translation (Lee *et al.*, 1993). In 2000, the first miRNA was discovered in humans and other vertebrates (Lagos-Quintana *et al.*, 2001; Lau *et al.*, 2001; Lee and Ambros, 2001). Recent advancements in high-throughput miRNA deep sequencing analysis have enabled the identification of a large number of novel miRNAs: the June 2013 release of miRNA database miRBase20 (http://www.mirbase.org/) contains 24521 entries, representing hairpin precursor miRNAs that express 30424 mature miRNA products in 193 species, and include more than 2500 mature human miRNAs (Kozomara and Griffiths-Jones, 2011).

1.9.2 MiRNA nomenclature

MicroRNAs are named using the "miR" prefix followed by a dash and a number, the latter often indicating the order of naming. For example, miR-129 was named, and likely discovered, prior to miR-142. MiRNAs with nearly identical sequences differing in only one or two nucleotides are annotated with an additional lower case letter. For example, miR-15a would be closely related to miR-15b. To denote species-specific miRNA, a three-letter prefix is added, e.g., hsa-miR-129 is a human (*Homo sapiens*) miRNA while mmu-miR-129 is a mouse (*Mus musculus*) miRNA. When two mature microRNAs originate from opposite strands of the same pre-miRNA, they are denoted with a -3p or -5p suffix; for example, miR-142-3p (from the 3' arm) and miR-142-5p (from the 5' arm). The mature miRNA is designated miR-202 (with capital
R) in the databases and in much of the literature (Ambros *et al.*, 2003). The 5' end of the mature miRNAs is a particularly important determinant of miRNA function starting 2-8 nucleotides from the 5'end; this is known as the seed sequence (Stefani and Slack, 2008).

1.9.3 MiRNA biogenesis

MiRNA production begins in the nucleus and involves a series of RNA processing steps (Figure 1.4). MiRNA genes are dispersed throughout the genome, either within intronic sequences of protein-coding genes, within intronic or exonic regions of noncoding RNAs, or located between independent transcription units (intergenic). The majority of intronic miRNAs are transcribed from the same promoter as the host gene (Wahid et al., 2010); however, approximately one-third of intronic miRNAs are transcribed from independent promoters, enabling separate control of their transcription (Ozsolak et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2009; Monteys et al., 2010). Transcriptional regulation of miRNAs is dictated by the same properties as those regulating protein-coding genes: CpG islands, TATA box sequences, histone modifications, transcription factors, enhancers, silencing elements and chromatin modifications (Ghyka and Cernescu, 1975; Ozsolak et al., 2008). The majority of miRNA genes are transcribed by RNA polymerase II, generating primary (pri-miRNA) transcripts (Figure 1.4) with 5'cap and 3' polyadenylation sequences. Following transcription, the pri-miRNA is cleaved by an RNase IIIlike enzyme, Drosha, and its cofactor, DiGeorge critical region 8 (DGCR8), to a 60-70 nt precursor (pre-) miRNA (Figure 1.4). The pre-miRNA is then exported by exportin5 protein into the cytoplasm where it is further processed by another RNase III enzyme, Dicer, that cleaves the stem loop to generate a ~22 nucleotide miRNA:miRNA* duplex. The double stranded- (ds-) miRNA then gets unwound and the passenger strand (miRNA*) degraded. The mature strand is

subsequently loaded into a pre-<u>R</u>NA-<u>i</u>nduced <u>s</u>ilencing <u>c</u>omplex (pre-RISC), which contains an Argonaut protein, mainly Ago2, as well as other proteins, giving rise to the mature miRISC complex. (Khvorova *et al.*, 2003; Schwarz *et al.*, 2003). The mature miRNA then leads the miRISC to its target mRNA. If the miRNA has 100% homology to its target mRNA, it results in mRNA target degradation, similar to the siRNA pathway. However, as the majority of animal miRNAs bind imperfectly to their mRNA targets, they instead destabilize the mRNA and/or repress its protein translation (Lee *et al.*, 1993) (**Figure 1.4**).

1.9.4 MiRNA functional analysis

The most significant challenge in miRNA studies is the identification of miRNA-targeted genes. Most known miRNA targets in animals have followed a canonical pattern, where target genes contain 7-8 bases in their 3'UTRs with perfect complementarity to the so-called seed region within the mature miRNA sequence (Bartel, 2009). A number of in silico target prediction tools have been designed to aid in the prediction of such 3'UTR targets: TargetScan 5.2 and later 6.2 (Lewis et al, 2003, www.targetscan.org) (Lewis et al., 2005), PicTar (Krek et al 2005, http://pictar.mdc-berlin.de/cgi-bin/PicTar_vertebrate.cgi) (Krek et al., 2005), miRDB (Wang et al 2008, http://www.mirdb.org/miRDB/) (Wang, 2008; Wang and El Naqa, 2008), Microcosm Targets (Rehmsmeie et al 2004, http://www.ebi.ac.uk/enright-srv/microcosm/htdocs/targets/v5/) (Rehmsmeier al., 2004) and MiRanda (John al 2004, et et http://www.microrna.org/microrna/home.do) (John et al., 2004). These target prediction algorithms use multiple criteria to determine whether a gene is a potential target for a miRNA, including complementarity to the seed site, evolutionary conservation among species, and the stability of hybridization energy between the miRNA and the predicted site on the mRNA of the

target gene (van Rooij, 2011). Such tools have proven to be invaluable resources for miRNA functional studies.

1.9.5 Roles of miRNAs

Since their discovery, research on the miRNAs has expanded exponentially, resulting in more than 20,000 published scientific papers within the last two decades (Xie et al., 2013). Collectively these studies have shown that this class of small non-coding RNAs functions as an important regulator in a wide range of cellular processes. The biological effects of any miRNA depend on the cellular environment in which it is expressed, its turnover rate and the target sequence that the miRNA binds. In that manner, a small change in miRNA expression can lead to modest changes in the expression of multiple proteins directly or indirectly, and collectively these can add up to large changes in a biological system (Kim and Park, 1988; Baek et al., 2008; Selbach *et al.*, 2008). As a consequence of their extensive participation in normal functions, their abnormalities have deleterious effects on a wide variety of human diseases (Kim and Park, 1988; Tang et al., 2008; Fabian et al., 2010). MiRNA expression can be regulated by a variety of stimuli and mechanisms, including direct transcriptional activators or repressors, genomic amplification or deletion, epigenetic modifications of the genome, cellular stress and inflammatory stimuli (Guo et al., 2010; Tomankova et al., 2010; O'Neill et al., 2011). In turn, the effect of inducing or repressing miRNA expression can influence most biological processes, including cell fate specification, cell proliferation, DNA repair, DNA methylation and apoptosis and provide pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory stimuli (Pallante *et al.*, 2010).

1.9.6 Aberrant miRNA activities

The loss or gain of miRNA function can be caused by mutations in the miRNA gene or its promoter, in the miRNA itself or its target sequence. Given the importance of miRNAs in regulating cellular differentiation and proliferation, it is not surprising that their misregulation is linked to cancer. In fact, high-throughput analyses of miRNA expression in cancer have demonstrated that some miRNAs are over-expressed in cancer while others are markedly reduced (Soifer et al., 2007; Lynam-Lennon et al., 2009). Several of these miRNAs function as oncogenes or tumor suppressors and, thus, are termed oncomiRs or tumor suppressor miRs (Soifer et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2007a; Osaki et al., 2008). OncomiRs are overexpressed in cancers and promote cancer development by negatively regulating tumor suppressor genes and/or genes that control cell differentiation or apoptosis. In contrast, tumor suppressor miRNAs are underexpressed in cancers; they function as tumor suppressor genes and may inhibit cancers by downregulating oncogenes. Accumulating evidence from studies of miRNA profiling in cancers shows a direct functional link between aberrant miRNA expression and specific tumor types (Ambros, 2004; Chen et al., 2004; Cheng et al., 2005; Karp and Ambros, 2005; Hwang and Mendell, 2006; Shenouda and Alahari, 2009; Skalsky and Cullen, 2011). I will focus the remainder of my review on those tumors where abnormal overexpression of GHR was also detected, as described earlier in section 1.8.b: hematopoietic, colorectal, gastric, breast and prostate. Although the mechanisms underlying GHR aberrant overexpression are not known, dysregulation of potential GHR-regulating miRNAs is one possibility.

1.9.6.1 MiRNA association with hematopoietic cancers

Initial evidence for the involvement of miRNAs in cancers came from a molecular study characterizing the chr13q14 deletion in human chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL). It was observed that the genes for two miRNAs, miR-15a and miR-16, are located in a region of chromosome 13q14 that is deleted in more than half of B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) cases (Calin *et al.*, 2002). Detailed deletion analyses demonstrated that these two are the only two genes within the small (30 kb) common region which is lost in CLL patients, and expression analysis indicated that miR-15a and miR-16 were either absent or down-regulated in the majority (~ 68%) of CLL patients. MiR-15a and -16 are thought to exert tumor suppressor functions by targeting multiple oncogenes, including the anti-apoptotic protein, BCL2, which is overexpressed in the malignant B-cells of CLL (Calin *et al.*, 2002; Lerner *et al.*, 2009; Klein *et al.*, 2010).

On the other hand, overexpression of miR-155, a miR encoded by host gene *miR-155HG*, was observed in a long list of both hematologic and solid tissue cancers, where it was found to promote genomic instability, proliferation and survival of malignant cells. Such properties led to miR-155 being coined as the first oncomiR (Costinean *et al.*, 2006). In a more recent study by Kopp et al., they found that, while transient elevation of miR-155 levels is necessary for normal functioning of immune cells, a chronically increased expression of miR-155 is often detected in cancers; moreover, miR-155 expression alone is sufficient to trigger malignant transformation (Kopp *et al.*, 2013). They also showed that *miR-155HG* gene is a transcriptional target of STAT5; STAT5 directly binds to the *BIC* (<u>B</u>-cell Integration <u>C</u>luster that includes the *miR-155* gene) promoter and induces miR-155 expression in T cell lymphomas. This links expression of an oncogenic miRNA to cytokine signaling of the JAK/STAT pathway and sheds light on the

aberrant role of STAT5 in the induction of oncogenic molecules, further suggesting a link between inflammation and cancer (Kopp *et al.*, 2013). As mentioned earlier, GHR overexpression was observed in multiple leukemic cell lines. STAT5 being the main mediator of GH/GHR signaling, the expression of the oncomiR-155 by STAT5 could be a mechanism by which GHR is involved in the tumorigenesis process.

1.9.6.2 MiRNA association with colorectal cancer

Both functional and profiling studies have established a connection between miRNAs and colorectal cancer. MiRNAs regulate many known oncogenic and tumor suppressor pathway members, such as Wnt/ β -catenin, PI3K, KRAS and p53, that are involved in the pathogenesis of colorectal tumors (Slaby *et al.*, 2009). MiR-34b and c are epigenetically silenced in colorectal cancer cells but not in normal colonic mucosa (Toyota *et al.*, 2008). When Ng et al. investigated whether plasma miRNA levels could discriminate between patients with and without colorectal cancer, they found that five miRNAs, including miR-17-3p and miR-92, were up-regulated in both colorectal cancer tissue and plasma samples and that the plasma levels of these markers were significantly reduced after surgery in 10 colorectal cancer patients (Ng *et al.*, 2009). Further validation on an independent set of 180 plasma samples showed that miR-92 expression can differentiate colorectal from gastric cancer, indicating that miR-92 may be a non-invasive molecular marker for colorectal screening (Ng *et al.*, 2009).

A study by Bandrés *et al.* identified miR-129-5p (a known inducer of G1 phase arrest (Wu *et al.*, 2010)) as one of the significantly down-regulated miRNAs in both colorectal cancer cell lines and a set of tumor tissues compared to a human normal colon cell line and normal paired tissues (Bandres *et al.*, 2006). In a more recent study, Karaayvaz *et al.* found that the

level of miR-129-5p expression was significantly decreased in samples from 22 human colorectal tumor tissues compared to their paired normal controls (Karaayvaz *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, the same group studied a set of 61 colorectal specimens from different stages of the disease and found that the expression of miR-129-5p was significantly reduced in patients with stage 3 and 4 of the disease compared with normal or adenoma tissues (Karaayvaz *et al.*, 2013). Collectively these results suggest a tumor suppressor role for miR-129-5p, and that this may lead to novel therapeutic approaches for colorectal cancer.

1.9.6.3 MiRNA association with gastric cancer

Gastric cancer is diagnosed in nearly one million individuals each year and is regarded as one of the leading causes of cancer-related deaths in the world (Feng and Sheng, 2013). Gastric carcinogenesis is a complex multistep process involving genetic dysregulation of protooncogenes, tumor suppressor genes and miRNAs. For example, miR-19a was found to function as an oncogenic miRNA in gastric cancer by repressing expression of the tumor suppressor gene, SOCS1; its expression is inversely correlated with SOCS1 expression in gastric cancer cells and a subset of gastric cancer tissues. Moreover, ectopic expression of miR-19a dramatically promoted proliferation and tumorigenicity of gastric cancer cells both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Qin *et al.*, 2013). Other studies have shown that the expression of miR-202 is down-regulated in gastric cancer, both in cell lines and tumor tissues. Moreover, overexpression of miR-202 in two gastric cancer cell lines, MNK-28 and BGC-823, markedly suppressed cell proliferation and induced cell apoptosis both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Zhao *et al.*, 2013). Because malignant cells show dependence on the abnormal expression of miRNA genes, which in turn control or are controlled by the dysregulation of multiple protein-coding oncogenes or tumor suppressor genes, these miRNAs provide important opportunities for the development of future miRNA-based therapies against gastric cancer (Kim and Park, 1988; Croce, 2009).

1.9.6.4 MiRNA association with prostate cancer

In developed countries, prostate cancer is the most common malignant tumor in men, and is the second highest cause of cancer mortality after lung tumors (Gronberg, 2003). As with other tumors, results from miRNA profiling experiments suggest that aberrant expression of miRNAs occurs in prostate cancer (Lu et al., 2005; Volinia et al., 2006; Porkka et al., 2007; Ambs et al., 2008; Tong et al., 2009). For example, Volinia et al. studied RNA extracted from 363 solid cancers and 177 normal tissues, including 56 prostate tumours and 7 normal prostates; they identified a prostate cancer signature composed of 39 up-regulated miRs and 6 downregulated miRs (Volinia et al., 2006). More focused studies have revealed that alterations in expression of some miRNAs have been correlated with: (1) genetic alterations that eventually result in epigenetic reprogramming; (2) transcription factor activities; and (3) the acquisition of invasive features and/or androgen independence (Coppola et al., 2010). For example, miR-15a/miR-16 genes reside in 13q14.3, a region deleted in 66% of prostate cancer patients without relapse and 73% with relapse (Brookman-Amissah et al., 2007). MiR-15 and -16 expression levels were analyzed in 20 prostate tumour-derived primary cultures compared to their normal counterpart by qPCR and in 15 prostate tumour biopsies by in situ hybridization: there was a down-regulation of miR-15a and miR-16 levels in 85% of the tumor cases (Bonci et al., 2008). Further experiments by Bonci et al. using a stable lentivirus-mediated inhibition of miR-15/miR-16 in RWPE-1 (normal epithelial prostate) cells resulted in an increase in proliferation and migration in vitro and the formation of small tumour masses in immunodeficient mice. In

contrast, lentivirus-mediated miR-15/miR-16 reconstitution in LNCaP (tumor prostate cell line) cells resulted in a dramatic apoptotic effect *in vitro* and a significant regression of tumour xenografts *in vivo*. Collectively, these lines of evidence suggest that miR-15/miR-16 loss may contribute to prostate cancer progression.

1.9.6.5 MiRNA association with breast cancer

Our understanding of the molecular classification of breast cancer stems from mRNA profiling studies which have broadly sub-classified breast tumors into five major groups: luminal A, luminal B, basal-like, HER2-positive and normal-like tumors (van 't Veer *et al.*, 2002; Kopp *et al.*, 2013). More recently, global studies of miR expression in normal breast tissues and tumors have generated a miR signature discriminating between normal and malignant breast tissues (Iorio *et al.*, 2005; Le Quesne and Caldas, 2010). For example, upregulation of let-7 and miR-342 occur primarily in ER-positive tumors, while increased expression of miR-135b and miR-18 occurs in ER-negative tumors. In fact, expression of two key players in miRNA biogenesis and actions, DICER1 and AGO2, is correlated with tumor subtype and may explain some of the changes in miRNA expression observed (Blenkiron *et al.*, 2007).

1.9.6.6 MiRNAs as cancer prognosis and therapeutic tools

The recent discovery of miRNAs has provided a new layer of complexity to the known mechanisms regulating gene expression and function. MiRNAs function by repressing specific target genes at the post-transcriptional level. The target mRNAs are often involved in the

regulation of diverse physiological processes ranging from developmental timing to apoptosis, very fundamental biological processes.

However, when miRNAs are aberrantly expressed they can contribute to pathological conditions, such as cancer. As such, they have been shown to be useful as biomarkers for diagnosis of cancer type and prognostic indicators of severity. For instance, Asuragen is the first pharmaceutical company to validate a first-generation miRInform Pancreas test, which analyzes the expression of two miRNAs, miR-196a and miR-217, in formalin-fixed and paraffin-embedded pancreatic tissues (Szafranska *et al.*, 2008). In 2012 the company launched an improved version of the test, which uses a broad panel of microRNAs from endoscopic ultrasonography fine needle aspirate specimens. This is an important advance since it is difficult to access tissue specimens in non-resected pancreatic cancer patients. This procedure makes it possible to screen high-risk individuals, establish a prognosis and predict the response to treatment in those numerous cases in which the tumor is not operable (Araki *et al.*, 1986).

In addition, miRNA therapy could be a powerful tool for multiple cancers, where miRNA mimics can be used to compensate for the aberrant loss of a tumor suppressor miRNA, or miRNA inhibitors to inhibit oncomiRs. Anti-miR-34 is the first miRNA therapy to advance into a human clinical trial for cancer. The Phase 1 trial is being conducted in patients with primary liver cancer or metastatic cancer with liver involvement. MiR-34 is termed a master regulator of tumor suppression. It is downregulated in multiple cancers and it inhibits malignant growth by repressing multiple members in different oncogenic signalling pathways: cell cycle, apoptosis/p53, wnt signaling/metastasis, cancer cell stemness, mitotic signaling, oncogenic transcription and metabolism (Bader, 2012; Di Martino *et al.*, 2012).

In addition, miR-122 is the most abundant miRNA in liver, and was the first anti-miR candidate for a non-cancer microRNA therapeutic. After successful preclinical experiments in both mice and nonhuman primates, clinical trials are now underway to investigate the use of miR-122 as an antisense target for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus infection in humans (Haussecker and Kay, 2010). The increasing evidence of significant involvement of miRNAs in almost every disease process suggests that, in the future, miRNA therapies will be used for treatment of multiple diseases, including cancer.

1.10 Hypothesis and Objective of the Study

There is a significant body of evidence suggesting a role for increased GHR expression in the progression of several cancers. However the underlying mechanisms behind the overexpression of GHR remain undefined. One possibility is a dysregulation at the posttranscriptional level by miRNAs. Therefore for my master's degree, I have tested the hypothesis that specific miRNAs regulate *GHR* gene expression using HEK293 cells as a model test system. Providing evidence for specific miR regulation of GHR will shed light on a new aspect of GHR regulation, may uncover mechanisms behind the role of GHR in progression of multiple cancers and, most importantly, may provide a therapeutic tool to block the tumorigenic effects of the GH/GHR axis in these tumors.



Figure 1.1: Regulation of Growth Hormone secretion

Hypothalamic GH Releasing Hormone (GHRH) and somatostatin regulate pituitary GH release into the blood where it circulates primarily bound to the GH binding protein (GHBP). GH binds and activates a dimer of its receptor (GHR) on target cells where it stimulates growth, metabolism, proliferation and anti-apoptosis, either directly or via the IGF-I system. Both GH and IGF-I inhibit GH secretion from the anterior pituitary. GH and IGF-I also work at the hypothalamic level, inducing the release of somatostatin, resulting in inhibition of GH secretion.



Figure 1.2: Schematic representation of the human GHR gene and protein

(A) The human *GHR* gene on chromosome 5p13.1-p12 which spans ~300kb. (B) *GHR* mRNA transcripts contain a non-coding 5'UTR with multiple splice variants giving rise to 14 different mRNAs and a ~2.5kb 3'UTR starting from the stop codon in exon 10. (C) The GHR peptide is comprised of an 18 amino acid signal peptide, 246 amino acid GH-binding extracellular domain (ECD), a transmembrane domain (TMD) of 24 amino acids, and a 350 amino acid intracellular signaling domain (ICD). The mature form of GHR after the signal peptide cleavage is 620 aa.



Figure 1.3: GH/GHR major intracellular signaling pathways

Schematic representation of the major GH/GHR signalling pathways. GH binds to a GHR dimer on the plasma membrane of target cells. This induces a conformational change in its intracellular domain, bringing the two JAK2s to a close proximity with each other, allowing for transphosphorylation of the JAK2s and activation of the GHR by phosphorylation of multiple tyrosine residues. JAK2 then, depending on the cell type, stimulates STATs, MAPK and/or PI3K/AKT pathways, which allows for divergence of the GH physiological effects. Members of the SRC family of kinases are also activated, leading to activation of the ERK/MAPK cascade.



Figure 1.4: MiRNA biogenesis pathway

MiRNA genes in the nucleus are transcribed by Pol II resulting in a primary transcript which is then cleaved by an RNase III-like enzyme, Drosha, to a pre-miRNA. The pre-miRNA is transported to the cytoplasm by the exportin5 protein and further processed to form a mature miRNA. The mature miRNA enters the RISC complex, leading it to its target mRNA. This results in inhibition of protein translation and/or target mRNA sequestration and degradation. (Reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [Nature Reviews, Molecular Cell Biology. MicroRNAs in metabolism and metabolic disorders. Rottiers V, Näär AM, copyright April 2012)]

CHAPTER 2

REGULATION OF HUMAN GROWTH HORMONE RECEPTOR EXPRESSION BY MICRORNAS IN HEK293 CELLS

Samar Elzein^{1, 3} and Cynthia G Goodyer^{1, 2, 3}

¹Departments of Experimental Medicine and ²Pediatrics, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada; ³Endocrine Research Laboratory, Research Institute of McGill University Health Center

at the Montreal Children's Hospital, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3Z 2Z3.

Abbreviated Title: MiRNA Regulation of GHR in HEK293 cells

Key Terms: Growth Hormone Receptor, miRNA, cancer, gene regulation

Corresponding Author: Dr. Cynthia G Goodyer

McGill University Health Center - Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute,

Room PT 415-1

4060 Ste. Catherine West, Montreal, Quebec, Canada H3Z 2Z3

Telephone: (514) 412-4400 ext. 22481; Fax: (514) 412-4478

E-mail: <u>cindy.goodyer@muhc.mcgill.ca</u>

Grants and Fellowships: This study was supported by operating grants from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CGG) and by a student fellowship from the Division of Endocrinology and Metabolism at McGill University (SE)

2.1 Abstract

Human Growth Hormone (GH) binds to its receptor (GHR) on target cells and activates multiple intracellular pathways, leading to changes in gene expression, differentiation and metabolism. GHR deficiency is associated with growth and metabolic disorders while increased GHR expression has been reported in certain cancers, suggesting that the *GHR* gene requires tight controls. Several regulatory mechanisms have been found within its 5'UTR promoter and coding regions. However, the 3'UTR has not been previously examined. MicroRNAs (miRs) are small (19-22nt) noncoding RNAs that down-regulate gene expression mainly through targeting the 3'UTR of mRNAs and enhancing their degradation or inhibiting translation. In the present study, we investigated whether miRs regulate human *GHR* expression.

To define putative miR-binding sites in the *GHR* 3'UTR, we used multiple *in silico* prediction tools, analyzed conservation across species and the presence of parallel sites in GH/IGF axis-related genes, and searched for reports linking miRs to GHR-related physiological or pathophysiological activities. To test prioritized sites, we co-transfected a 'wildtype' Luc-*GHR* 3'UTR luciferase reporter vector as well as miR binding site mutants into HEK293 cells with miR mimics. Furthermore, we tested whether the miRs altered endogenous *GHR* mRNA and protein levels.

Our experiments have identified miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-202 and miR-16 as potent inhibitors of human *GHR* expression in HEK293 cells. A parallel decrease in *GHR* mRNA and protein suggests that they act primarily by degrading *GHR* mRNA. This study paves the way for the development of miR inhibitors of GHR expression as therapeutic agents in GH/GHR axis-related pathophysiologies.

2.2 Introduction

Human Growth Hormone is essential for normal musculoskeletal development in the child; in addition, it has important regulatory effects on protein, carbohydrate and lipid metabolism at all stages of life (Veldhuis *et al.*, 2005; Lichanska and Waters, 2008b). It functions by binding to a dimer of its high-affinity receptor (GHR) on target cells, leading to phosphorylation of associated JAK2 tyrosine kinases as well as the receptor itself. The subsequent activation of multiple intracellular signaling pathways culminates in the biological actions of GH: changes in gene expression, enhanced proliferation, blocking of apoptosis, differentiation and metabolic activity (Lichanska and Waters, 2008a).

The ability of GH to exert its biological effects is intimately linked to the number and functional status of GHRs in target tissues. Individuals with low GHR levels or a dysfunctional GHR do not respond normally to GH: they are not only short, they also have decreased bone mineral density and increased adiposity, with a greater risk of osteoporosis, lipid disorders and cardiovascular disease (Brooks and Waters, 2010). Persons with enhanced GH response, due to increased GH secretion or elevated functional GHR levels in target tissues, exhibit excessive growth and very abnormal metabolic activities, leading to an increased incidence of cardiomyopathies, hypertension, diabetes and several types of cancers: leukemia, breast, prostate, colorectal and gastric cancers (Savage *et al.*, 2006; Perry *et al.*, 2013). Thus, to prevent these major medical morbidities, GHR expression must be tightly regulated at every stage of life.

The human *GHR* gene is located at chromosome 5p13.1-p12, where it spans more than 300kb (Barton *et al.*, 1989; Godowski *et al.*, 1989; Goodyer *et al.*, 2001). It contains several noncoding 5'UTR exons with multiple splice variants that give rise to at least 14 different mRNAs, each with a unique 5'UTR but all of which code for the same protein due to splicing

into the same site upstream of the translation start site in the first coding exon, exon 2 (Pekhletsky *et al.*, 1992; Goodyer *et al.*, 2001; Orlovskii *et al.*, 2004; Wei *et al.*, 2006). Transcription of the *GHR* gene results in a ~4.5kb mRNA (Ross *et al.*, 1997). This *GHR* transcript is more than twice the minimum 1.9kb necessary to encode the 638 amino acid signal/receptor peptide molecule; the majority of the "excess" size is due to the presence of an approximately 2.5kb 3'UTR within the *GHR* mRNA (Edens and Talamantes, 1998).

There have been extensive studies of how *GHR* gene expression is regulated at its multiple 5'UTR promoters by our lab (Goodyer et al., 2008; Wei et al., 2009; Erman et al., 2011; Kenth et al., 2011) as well as others (Yu et al., 1999). However, potential regulation at the 3'UTR has not been examined. 3'UTRs of mRNAs are well-known to be critical for the targeting of transcripts to specific subcellular compartments and for translational control (Andreassi and Riccio, 2009). More recently, microRNAs (miRNAs or miRs) have been shown to be posttranscriptional regulators of gene expression, acting mainly via the 3'UTRs of mRNAs (Chen et al., 2004; Xie et al., 2005). MiRNAs are naturally occurring, 19-22 nucleotides long, noncoding RNAs; the #2-8 nucleotides at the 5'end are known as the 'seed sequence' while the remaining nucleotides are the 'flanking region' (Stefani and Slack, 2008). MiRNAs function in the form of ribonucleoprotein complexes known as miRISCs (miRNA-induced silencing complexes) (Chekulaeva and Filipowicz, 2009). The miRNAs direct the miRISCs to sites primarily in the 3'UTR of target mRNAs, the specificity of which is defined by both the miR seed sequence and the flanking region. The complex subsequently inhibits protein synthesis by mRNA degradation and/or the arrest of mRNA translation (Chen et al., 2004; Meister and Tuschl, 2004; Fabian et al., 2010). Computational analysis indicates that more than 60% of protein coding genes may be directly modulated by miRNAs (Siomi and Siomi, 2010) and accumulating evidence indicates

that miRNAs play a central role in controlling a broad range of biological activities including embryonic development, cell proliferation, metabolic homeostasis and apoptosis (Chen *et al.*, 2004; Poy *et al.*, 2004; Cheng *et al.*, 2005; Karp and Ambros, 2005; Skalsky and Cullen, 2011; Bhaskaran and Mohan, 2013).

To understand whether miRs play a role in regulating human GHR expression, we have undertaken an analysis of miRNA effects on the *GHR* mRNA 3'UTR.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 PCR amplification and cloning of the wild type *GHR* 3'UTR into the pmiR-Luciferase vector

The following primers were used to amplify a 2293bp sequence of the human GHR 3'UTR using 10ng of genomic DNA as a template: forward primer (SacI) 5'cgagctcaattgactggggcaataacg-3' and reverse primer (MluI) 5'-cgacgcgtaaactgccagacacaactagtca-3'. A two step PCR assay was run using the Phusion High Fidelity DNA polymerase kit (Thermo Scientific, Burlington, ON) under the following conditions: an initial denaturation at 98°C for 2min followed by 5 cycles of 98°C for 10sec, 60°C for 30sec and 72°C for 150sec, then 30 cycles of 98°C for 10sec, 60°C for 4min and 72°C for 150sec. The PCR product was inserted into the SacI and MluI sites of the pmiR-Luc vector (Applied Biosystems/Invitrogen Life Sciences, Burlington, ON) downstream of the luciferase gene under the CMV promoter. Prior to its use, the vector insert was sequenced at the McGill Genome Centre (Montreal, QC) to ensure no mutations or deletions had occurred.

2.3.2 Mutagenesis

The Quick Change Lightning site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene, Santa Clara, CA) was used to mutate the seed sequence at each of the miRNA binding sites under study. The pmiR-Luc-GHR 3'UTR vector was the template and overlapping pairs of primers were designed using the Stratagene Primer Design Program (www.genomics.agilent.com/primerDesignProgram.jsp) (**Table 2.1**). To ensure that the mutated sequences did not form a new miR binding site, they were checked using the TargetScan Custom 4.2 in silico program (www.targetscan.org/vert_42/seedmatch.html) (Lewis *et al.*, 2005).

2.3.3 Cell culture conditions and transfections

Human embryonic kidney 293 (HEK293) cells were cultured in DMEM medium with 10% heat inactivated (HI) FBS, 25mM HEPES, 50U/ml penicillin and 1.6 mg/ml gentamycin. Cells were grown at 37°C with 5% CO2 in air. For GHR RNA and protein studies, HEK293 cells were plated at 2.5-3x10⁵ cells/well in 6-well plates in duplicates. The following day, the media were replaced with antibiotic-free DMEM supplemented with 10% HI FBS and 500nM miR mimics (Dharmacon, division of Thermo Scientific) were transfected using the Dharmafect-1 Transfection Reagent (Dharmacon), according to the manufacturer's protocol. Total RNA was isolated for qRT-PCR analysis 24h post-transfection while proteins were extracted from a parallel set of cells after 48h. For luciferase reporter gene assays, cells were plated at 50x103 cells/well in 24-well plates. 50 ng of pmiR-Luc vector harboring the wild type GHR 3'UTR or a mutant version in addition to 1-100nM miR mimics or 50-100nM miRCURY LNA microRNA family inhibitors (Exiqon) were co-transfected into cells using the Dual-Transfecting reagent (Dharmacon). 50ng of pmiR-β-galactosidase vector were co-transfected into all wells to

normalize for transfection efficiency. Experiments were performed a minimum of three times with each mimic or inhibitor.

2.3.4 Luciferase and β-galactosidase measurements

For luciferase experiments, 48h post-transfection cells were washed once with cold PBS and harvested in 200µl of lysis buffer (0.05% NP40, 0.01 DDT in 0.1M Tris [pH8]) for 15min at room temperature. 10µl of lysate were dispensed into 96-well microtiter plates and luciferase activity was assayed after injecting 100µl per well of 1x luciferin solution (0.1 mM coenzyme A, 2.5mM ATP, 1x luciferin in 5mM tris-HCl [pH 7.9]). For the β-galactosidase assay, 10µl of the lysate were dispensed into 96-well microtiter plates, mixed with 100µl of Tropix Galacton-Star substrate diluted to 1x in Galacto-Star reaction buffer diluent (Applied Biosystems) and incubated for 1h at room temperature in the dark. Luciferase and β-galactosidase activities were measured in a bioluminometer (GloMax, Promega, Madison, WI). Assays were performed in triplicates. Data were initially normalized to β -galactosidase activity and then expressed as a ratio of luciferase activity over empty pmiR-Luc vector values.

2.3.5 RNA and miRNA extractions and cDNA synthesis

Total RNA including small RNA (miRNA) was extracted from HEK293 cells using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen), according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA quantity was assessed using the Nanodrop Spectrophotometer ND-1000 (Thermo Scientific) and RNA integrity was verified using the Bio-Rad Bioanalyzer (Bio-Rad, Mississauga, ON). For cDNA amplification assays, 1µg of RNA from each sample was used for cDNA synthesis using the QuantiTect Reverse Transcription Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD) according to manufacturer's instructions.

2.3.6 Quantitative PCR (qPCR)

GHR mRNA levels were measured in triplicate using the Syber Green PCR assay (Qiagen), proprietary human *GHR* primers (Qiagen) and the LC480 qPCR instrument (Roche, Laval, QC). No template and no RT controls were included in each assay. Human B_2 microglobulin (B_2M) mRNA was used as an internal control to normalize between samples. The fold expression of the *GHR* mRNA in HEK293 cells treated with specific miRNA mimics relative to negative control treated samples were determined using the $2^{\Lambda-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method. The final data represent a minimum of three experiments.

2.3.7 miRNA expression in HEK293 cells

Total RNA (1µg/20µl reaction) from HEK293 cells was converted to cDNA using the miScript RT-PCR assay (Qiagen) following the manufacturer's instructions. The miRNA miScript Primer assays (Qiagen) were then used to quantify specific mature miRNAs present in the HEK293 cells. Specific mature miRNA primers were purchased from Qiagen (**Table 2.2**). The PCR reactions were performed on the Roche LightCycler 480 under the following conditions: 15min at 95°C, followed by 35 cycles of 15sec at 94°C, 30sec 58°C and 30sec at 70°C. *U6B* (small nuclear) RNA was used as an endogenous control to normalize between samples. No RT and water were used as negative controls for the PCR reactions while RNA from cells transfected with miRNA mimics was used as a positive control for undetected miRNAs. The data represent 4 independent experiments using different passages of the HEK293 cells, with each performed in triplicate and presented as percent of $2^{^{-}(\Delta Ct)}$, where $\Delta C_t = (C_t \text{ of target miRNA})$ minus (C_t U6B).

2.3.8 Immunoblotting

Two days after transfection with miR mimics, HEK293 cells were washed with cold PBS and lysed in ice-cold RIPA buffer containing 50mM Tris HCl (pH 8), 150mM NaCl, 1%NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, 0.1% SDS and protease and phosphatase inhibitors (Roche). Protein concentration was measured by DC protein assays (Bio-Rad). 25µg of total proteins were separated on 8% SDS-PAGE gels at 100V for 2.5h. The proteins were then electroblotted onto PVDF membranes (Thermo Scientific) at 300 mA for 1h. Membranes were blocked in 1% Tween Tris-buffered saline (TBST) with 5% skim milk for 4h at room temperature or overnight at 4°C. For GHR detection, blocked membranes were immunoblotted with the primary antibody (H300 rabbit anti-GHR; Santa Cruz Biochemicals, Santa Cruz, CA) diluted 1:1000 in blocking buffer overnight at 4°C. After extensive washing with TBST, the membranes were incubated with a horseradish peroxidase-labeled anti-rabbit secondary antibody (Cell Signaling, Beverly, MA), diluted 1:25000 in blocking buffer, for 1h at room temperature. Signals were detected using the ECL Prime Western Blotting Detection kit (GE Healthcare Amersham, division of Thermo Scientific) and exposure on HyBlot CL® Autoradiography films (Denville Scientific, South Plainfield, NJ). The membranes were subsequently stripped using 0.1% SDS in Tris with 0.7% β-mercaptoethanol and reprobed using a primary antibody against calnexin (1:5000; BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ) and the HRP-labeled anti-mouse secondary antibody (1:5000; Cell Signaling), as a control for protein loading. Developed films were scanned and a densitometric analysis of bands was carried out using the Image J program (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD) (Schneider et al., 2012).

2.3.9 Statistical Analysis

The results were expressed as mean \pm SE from at least 3 independent experiments. All statistical analyses were performed with ANOVA; for subsequent group comparisons, the Tukey-Kramer Multiple Comparisons test was used. Data were considered statistically significant when p < 0.05. All statistical tests were performed using GraphPad InSTAT software (GraphPad, San Diego, CA).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Mapping the human GHR 3'UTR sequence for potential miR binding sites

To identify putative miR target sites within the 3'UTR of the human GHR gene, multiple miR target prediction programs were used: TargetScan 5.2 and later 6.2 (Lewis et al 2003, www.targetscan.org) (Lewis et al., 2005), PicTar (Krek et al 2005, http://pictar.mdcberlin.de/cgi-bin/PicTar_vertebrate.cgi) (Krek et al., 2005), miRDB (Wang et al 2008, http://www.mirdb.org/miRDB/) (Wang, 2008; Wang and El Naga, 2008), Microcosm Targets (Rehmsmeie et al 2004, http://www.ebi.ac.uk/enright-srv/microcosm/htdocs/targets/v5/) (Rehmsmeier al., 2004)al 2004. et and MiRanda (John et http://www.microrna.org/microrna/home.do) (John et al., 2004). The miR sites were prioritized based on the fact that they were identified by two or more *in silico* programs, the sites are conserved across several species, there are homologous sites in GH/IGF1 axis-related genes, and there are reports linking specific miRs to GHR-related physiological or pathophysiological activities (Figure 2.1 and Table 2.3). The final set included sites for: miR-129-5p, which has three potential binding sites (denoted by A, B and C at 488-494, 873-880 and 914-920, respectively, counting from the first nucleotide after the stop codon in exon 10); miR-142-3p (located at 583-590); miR-202, a member of the Let7 family that is only present in mammals, has two sites (A and B at 713-719 and 2245-2252, respectively); the miR-15/16 family (at 2092-2099); and miR-135 (at 2294-2300, the most 3' site).

2.4.2 Endogenous levels of miRs in HEK293 cells

The endogenous expression levels of these miRNAs were determined in the HEK293 cells by qPCR; the data are presented as fold of ΔC_t values normalized to the *U6B* gene (**Figure 2.2**). All of the miR-16 family members studied were expressed in HEK293 cells with miR-16 and -15b the highest, miR-129-5p was at the limit of detection, while miR-142-3p, -202 and -135 were not detectable. Cells transfected with specific mimics were used as positive controls to validate the assays for the low and undetectable miRs.

2.4.3 In vitro testing for miR regulation of the human GHR 3'UTR

To determine whether the five miRs were able to regulate the *GHR* 3'UTR, we created a pmiR-Luc-*GHR* 3'UTR reporter vector by cloning 2293nt of the possible 2454nt, spanning all of the putative miR sites (**Figure 2.1**). Reporter assays were performed using transient co-transfections of the reporter vector along with miR mimics in HEK293 cells. MiR-129-5p, -142-3p, -202 and -16 showed significant dose-related inhibitory effects on the pmiR-Luc-*GHR* 3'UTR vector, while other members of the miR-16 family (miR-15, -103, -107 and -503), Let7-b and -e as well as miR-135 had very low to no effects (**Figure 2.3**). Because it was possible that the lower effect of miR-16 was due to the high endogenous levels of members of the miR-15/16

family present in HEK293 cells (**Figure 2.2**), we carried out reporter assays using the wild-type pmiR-Luc-*GHR* 3'UTR vector co-transfected with 50nM miR inhibitors against the three most highly expressed members: miR-15a, -15b and -16. Indeed, results from four independent experiments showed a significant (59%, p<0.05) up-regulation of luciferase activity when normalized to the negative inhibitor control.

2.4.4 Determining the specificity of the miRNA sites in GHR 3'UTR

To confirm whether the miRs that had inhibitory effects in the reporter assays were acting through their predicted sites, reporter vectors with mutations of the binding sites were tested in parallel with the wild type vector. Details of each mutation and the mutagenesis primers are in **Table 2.1**. In the case of multiple binding sites for a miR (miR-129-5p and -202), simple and compound mutations were created.

MiR-142-3p and -16: Both of these miRs have a single predicted "perfect seed site' (8mer) in the *GHR* 3'UTR (Diana miRNA prediction tools [DIANA-microT-CDS web server v5.0]), (**Figure 2.1**). Mutating the corresponding potential binding sites resulted in full recovery of the luciferase activity, confirming that the observed repression in luciferase activity with the wildtype vector was due to effects of these miRs at their predicted sites (**Figure 2.4A**).

MiR-129-5p: This miR has three putative binding sites in the 3'UTR of the *GHR* gene (**Figure 2.1**). To test the contribution of each site to the total effect observed by the reporter assay, single mutants (miR-129-5p/A, -129-5p/B, -129-5p/C), double mutants (miR-129-5p/AB, -129-5p/AC, -129-5p/BC) and the triple mutant (miR-129-5p/ABC) were created and assayed with miR-129-

5p mimics along with the wild type vector. These assays showed that both sites A and B are the major contributors to the repression observed in the wild type, while site C has a minor contribution. However, it took the triple mutant to fully relieve the effects of miR-129-5p repression (**Figures 2.4A, 2.4B and 2.4C**). Interestingly, the strength of the individual sites correlates with predicted seed weighting: sites A and B are 7mers, while site C is a 6mer (**Figure 2.4B**).

MiR-202: MiR-202 belongs to the Let-7 family of miRNA. It has two predicted binding sites in the *GHR* 3'UTR denoted by A and B (**Figure 2.1**). Single miR 202/A and 202/B mutants in addition to the double mutant (202/AB) were created and co-transfected into HEK293 cells along with miR-202 mimics. Mutating site A abolished the repression completely, while mutating site B only relieved the repression by ~37% (**Figure 2.4D**). Interestingly, mutating the two sites simultaneously (202/AB) resulted in a ~50% increase in expression above controls (**Figures 2.4A, 2.4D and 2.4E**). These results suggest that site A is sufficient and necessary for the inhibition of *GHR* expression by miR-202 while site B acts cooperatively with site A to enhance its inhibitory effects on the 3'UTR. Again the predicted seed weighting for these two sites (A is an 8mer and B is a 7mer) correlates with the effectiveness of each site (**Figure 2.4D**).

2.4.5 The effect of individual miRs on endogenous *GHR* mRNA and protein levels in HEK293 cells

In order to test if miR-129-5p, -142-3p, -202 and -16 affect the endogenous levels of *GHR* mRNA in HEK293 cells, we carried out qRT-PCR assays after transfections with miR mimics *vs.* negative control mimics. Similar to the results from the reporter assays, the aforementioned

miRs significantly down-regulated the *GHR* mRNA levels compared to controls, by ~60% for miR-129-5p, -142-3p and -202, and ~30% with miR-16 (**Figure 2.5**).

Since the ultimate functional effect of miRs on gene expression is the alteration of protein levels, we measured the effect of the same miRs on the endogenous GHR protein levels in HEK293 cells by western blotting. An antibody against the intracellular domain of GHR was used that recognizes a band of ~100-120kD, corresponding to the mature GHR. Densitometry results from the western blots were normalized to calnexin (representative blot in **Figure 2.6A**) and to negative control-treated cells. Composite results of four independent experiments showed statistically significant decreases in GHR protein levels of ~ 40% when treated with miR-129-5p and miR-142-3p and ~30% when treated with either miR-202 or miR-16 (**Figure 2.6B**).

2.5 Discussion

In this study, we identified a new mechanism by which human GHR expression in HEK293 cells is regulated: miRNAs. Our results show miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-202 and miR-16 to be significant inhibitors, acting through specific *GHR* 3'UTR sites. The parallel decrease in *GHR* mRNA and protein by these four miRs suggests that the primary mechanism by which they are acting is by degrading the *GHR* mRNA.

Initially, in order to prioritize a list of miRs that might regulate human GHR expression, we searched the literature for prior evidence of strong direct or inverse correlations between the expression of GHR and that of individual miRs in both physiological and pathophysiological contexts (**Table 2.3**). While we were able to find a few links in relation to cell proliferation, apoptosis, angiogenesis and diurnal rhythms, the majority of miR papers have used high-throughput microarrays to identify cancer-specific miR 'fingerprints' in a spectrum of different

cancers, including breast (Iorio *et al.*, 2005), hepatocellular (Murakami *et al.*, 2006; Wang *et al.*, 2008), lung (Takamizawa *et al.*, 2004; Hayashita *et al.*, 2005; Yanaihara *et al.*, 2006), colon (Michael *et al.*, 2003; Schetter *et al.*, 2008) and gastric carcinomas (Petrocca *et al.*, 2008). Results from these studies have shown that the miRNA expression profile in malignant cells is significantly different from that in healthy control cells, suggesting that alterations in miRNA genes play a critical role in the pathophysiology of many human cancers (Aqeilan *et al.*, 2010). Thus, much of the discussion will focus on the potential relevance of our findings to GHR in cancer.

MiR-129-5p: Bandrés *et al.* identified miR-129-5p (a known inducer of G1 phase arrest (Wu *et al.*, 2010)) as one of the miRNAs significantly down-regulated in 15 colorectal cancer cell lines compared to a human normal colon cell line (Bandres *et al.*, 2006). In a more recent study, Karaayvaz *et al.* found that the level of miR-129-5p expression was significantly decreased in samples from 22 human colorectal tumor tissues compared to their paired normal controls (Karaayvaz *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, the same group studied a set of 61 colorectal specimens from different stages of the disease and found that the expression of miR-129-5p was significantly reduced in patients with stage 3 and 4 of the disease compared with normal or adenoma tissues (Karaayvaz *et al.*, 2013). Although these miR studies did not examine GHR levels, multiple studies have reported the over-expression of GHR in human colorectal cancer tissues and cell lines, suggesting a role for GHR in the progression of colorectal cancers that the inverse relationship between miR-129-5p and GHR in colorectal cancers should be studied further, to determine if, in fact, overexpression of this miR in colorectal cells would down-

regulate GHR expression and halt or reverse progression of these tumors. Interestingly, in addition to *GHR*, miR-129-5p has putative binding sites on the *STAT5b* and *IGF-I* mRNA 3'UTRs, suggesting that it could affect multiple steps in the GHR signaling pathway (**Table 2.3**).

MiR-142-3p: In a recent study by Shen *et al.*, miR-142-3p was shown to be down-regulated in colon cancer tissues; in addition, its overexpression acted as a tumor suppressor, inhibiting the growth of colorectal cancer cell lines (Shen *et al.*, 2013). As mentioned earlier, GHR has been strongly implicated in the progression of colorectal cancers. Our finding of a robust inhibitory effect of not only miR-129-5p but also miR-142-3p on GHR expression indicates that the interactions between both of these miRs and GHR in colorectal tumors now need to be verified and explored experimentally.

MiR-142-3p has also been shown to be involved in regulation of the circadian clock by targeting mRNAs of the clock gene, BMAL1. The expression level of miR-142-3p oscillates in a circadian rhythm in mouse NIH3T3 cells (Tan *et al.*, 2012) and the suprachiasmatic nuclei (Shende *et al.*, 2013). In addition, expression of the *MIR-142* gene is controlled by CLOCK/BMAL1 heterodimers, suggesting a negative feedback loop (Shende *et al.*, 2013). Studies by Itoh *et al.* and Zvonic *et al.* have reported that *GHR* mRNA levels in murine liver, skeletal muscle and calvarial bone are expressed in a diurnal manner (Itoh *et al.*, 2004; Zvonic *et al.*, 2007). While we have data demonstrating that the circadian regulators, <u>D</u>-site binding protein (DBP) and E4BP4, can regulate *GHR* expression through sites in at least two of the human *GHR* 5'UTR promoters (Kenth and Goodyer, unpublished), our present data suggest that it would be interesting to investigate whether miR-142-3p also plays a role in controlling the normal physiological circadian expression of GHR. Although miR-142-3p expression was not detected

in HEK293 cells under our experimental conditions, it was induced upon subjecting the cells to serum starvation (data not shown), suggesting a role for miR-142-3p in cell cycle regulation.

MiR-202: Expression of miR-202 (a known repressor of MYCN (Buechner *et al.*, 2011)) has been reported to be down-regulated in gastric cancer, both in cell lines and tumor tissues (Zhao *et al.*, 2013). Moreover, overexpression of miR-202 in two gastric cancer cell lines, MNK-28 and BGC-823, markedly suppressed cell proliferation and induced cell apoptosis both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Zhao *et al.*, 2013). As with colorectal tumors, multiple studies have reported GHR over-expression in gastric carcinomas: experimental results indicate that GHR expression is significantly higher in primary gastric adenocarcinoma than in normal gastric mucosa and is significantly correlated with tumor differentiation and tumor grade (Lincoln *et al.*, 2007; Lin *et al.*, 2011; Yang *et al.*, 2012; Ran *et al.*, 2013). Our present data, showing a significant inhibitory effect of miR-202 on *GHR* mRNA and protein expression, indicate that further investigations of miR-202/*GHR* gene interactions in gastric cancers are in order. As observed for miR-129-5p, miR-202 may also target several members of the GH/GHR axis (*GHRHR, GHR, IGF-I, IGF-IR, CIS*) and, thus, could affect the axis at multiple levels (**Table 2.3**).

MiR-16: MiR-16 belongs to the miR-15/107 group of miRNA genes. While all vertebrates express miR-15a, -15b, -16, -103 and -107, mammals alone are known to also express miR-195, -424, -497, -503 and -646. MiR-15a and -16 were the first miRNAs linked to a cancer, chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) (Calin *et al.*, 2004), although their decreased expression was subsequently reported in multiple adenomas as well as prostrate and breast cancers (Dong *et al.*, 2001; Bhattacharya *et al.*, 2009; Rivas *et al.*, 2012). The *MIR15a/16-1* genes are located at chr

13q14.3, within the *DLEU2* (<u>*Deleted in Leukemia 2*</u>) locus. Deletions at 13q14.3 have been reported in more than 50% of CLL cases (Calin *et al.*, 2002). MiR-15a and -16 are thought to exert their tumor suppressor functions by targeting multiple oncogenes, including the anti-apoptotic protein, BCL2, which is overexpressed in the malignant B-cells of CLL (Bonci *et al.*, 2008; Lerner *et al.*, 2009; Klein *et al.*, 2010).

GHR is expressed widely in human lymphocytes, including T cells, B cells and many leukemic cell lines (Hattori *et al.*, 2001). Studies by Jeay *et al.* have suggested a dual effect of the GH/GHR axis on survival and proliferation of the pro-B Ba/F3 cell line. When Ba/F3 cells were transfected with a *GHR* expression vector and treated with GH, a GH signaling pathway involving the activation of Nuclear Factor (NF)- κ B and the expression of the anti-apoptotic protein, Bcl-2, was shown to mediate the anti-apoptotic effect of GH (Jeay *et al.*, 2000). Increased concentrations of GH were shown to promote Ba/F3 cell proliferation, which was dependent upon the activation of PI-3 kinase, leading to the induction of the proto-oncogene, c-myc (Dinerstein *et al.*, 1995; Baixeras *et al.*, 2001). Interestingly, Calin *et al.* assessed the molecular basis for miR-15a/16 tumor suppression in leukemia by undertaking a high-throughput profiling of genes modulated by overexpressing miR-15a/16-1 in a leukemic cell line model, MEG-01(Calin *et al.*, 2008). The genome-wide transcriptome analysis showed a down-regulation of 3307 genes, including the *GHR* gene, which was significantly down regulated above the two fold threshold (p=0.018).

In addition to miR-129-5p and miR-202, miR-16 may also target several genes in the GH/GHR axis: *GHR*, *IGF1*, *IGF1R and IGF2R* (**Table 2.3**). Also of interest is that the promoter of *miR-15b/16-2* genes has been shown to be negatively regulated by STAT5, a downstream effector of GH-activated GHR, resulting in decreased mature miR-15 and miR-16 expression

levels (Li *et al.*, 2010). These data suggest that there may be a coordinated regulation allowing for communication between the level of GH/GHR axis activity and miR15/16 expression via STAT5.

While our results suggest that four miRNAs may be important regulators of GHR expression, this does not exclude a role for other miRs. The limitation in miRNA prediction of true targets is due to the complex nature of the miRNA: mRNA interactions; as a result, the available prediction programs have many false positive results. Indeed, we found that other "predicted" miRNAs, such as miR-135, members of the Let7 family and other members of the miR-16 family (103, 107 and 503) (Figure 2.1, Table 2.3, data not shown) did not have any significant effect on the GHR 3'UTR luciferase activity. Thus, other determinants (e.g. flanking regions) likely contribute to the effectiveness of the "predicted" miRs. In addition, we used HEK293 cells as a model to test our hypothesis and, therefore, cannot rule out that these or additional miR binding sites will be active in a cell- or tissue-specific fashion. Developmental stages constitute another layer of miRNA gene regulation complexity whereby these four or other miRs could play a temporal role in the regulation of *GHR* expression. Finally, according to miRNA prediction tool (DIANA-microT-CDS web v5.0; а new server http://www.microrna.gr/microT-CDS) (Reczko et al., 2012; Paraskevopoulou et al., 2013), there are additional miRNA binding sites for the miR-16 and Let7 families, including miR-202, in the coding region sequence of exon 10 of the human GHR mRNA, which might play a role. Although miRs have been shown to have effects at sites outside the 3'UTR region of mRNAs (Reczko et al., 2012), the exon 10 sites may be more important in regulating expression of the truncated forms of GHR: these represent up to 10% of total GHR and occur due to alternative splicing in exon 9, converting the entire exon 10 to 3'UTR status (Ross *et al.*, 1997).

In summary, our experiments have demonstrated, for the first time, significant inhibitory effects of miRNAs on human *GHR* mRNA and protein expression in HEK293 cells. This study paves the way for the development of miR inhibitors of GHR expression as therapeutic agents in GH/GHR axis-related pathophysiologies, including cancers.

Table 2.1: Primers used to introduce mutations into the miR seed sequences in the wild type GHR-3'UTR luciferase vector.

The miRNA seed sequences are in bold, mutated nucleotides are italicized and deleted seed sites are underlined. S = sense and AS = antisense) and the numbers in brackets represent the position of the primer in the 3'UTR GHR sequence.

Primer	Primer Sequence (5' to 3')
129-5p.A (488-494) S	ctagaggtgagaaatttaaactataagcaagaagcgaatattagttag
129-5p.A (488-494) AS	tatgtcaaaataaatgttttacatatccaaacta atattcg cttcttgcttatagtttaaatttctcacctctag
129-5p.B (873-880) S	gatcaacttaccaggcaccaaaagaagtaaaacgataatagaaaacctttcttcaccaaatc
129-5p.B (873-880) AS	gatttggtgaagaaaggttttctattatcgttttacttcttttggtgcctggtaagttgatc
129-5p.C (914-920) S	acctttcttcaccaaatcttggttgatgcgttataaaaatacatgctaagagaagtagaaatc
129-5p.C (914-920) AS	gatttctacttctcttagcatgtatttt tataac gcatcaaccaagatttggtgaagaaaggt
142-3p (583-590) S	taataatttagacttcaagcatggctattttatatt agacaata cactgtgtactgcagttg
142-3p (583-590) AS	caactgcagtacacagtg tattgtct aatataaaatagccatgcttgaagtctaaattatta
202-A (713-719) S	caaactcgttttttacaaagcccttt tatacctc cccagactccttcaa
202-A (713-719) AS	ttgaaggagtctgggggggtataaaagggctttgtaaaaaacgagtttg
202-B (2245-2252) S	acatttctatagccaaaaatagctaaattgcgcaatcagtctcagaatgtcattttgg
202-B (2245-2252) AS	ccaaaatgacattctgagactgattgcgcaatttagctatttttggctatagaaatgt
15/16 (2092-2099) S	ttgtaatagatgtttgatagattttctgctactt tgctgcta ggttttctccaagagc
15/16 (2092-2099) AS	gctcttggagaaaacctagcagcagaaaatctatcaaacatctattac

 Table 2.2: Qiagen primers used to amplify the endogenous mature miRNAs in HEK293 cells.
MiRNA	Mature miRNA Sequence 5'	Product Number
miR-15a	UAGCAGCACAUAAUGGUUUGUG	MS00003178
miR-15b	UAGCAGCACAUCAUGGUUUACA	MS00008792
miR-16	UAGCAGCACGUAAAUAUUGGCG	MS00031493
miR-195	UAGCAGCACAGAAAUAUUGGC	MS00003703
miR-424	CAGCAGCAAUUCAUGUUUUGAA	MS0000418
miR-497	CAGCAGCACACUGUGGUUUGU	MS00004361
miR-107	AGCAGCAUUGUACAGGGCUAUCA	MS00031255
miR-503	UAGCAGCGGGAACAGUUCUGCAG	MS00033838
miR-129-5p	CUUUUUGCGGUCUGGGCUUGC	MS00006643
miR-142-3p	CAUAAAGUAGAAAGCACUACU	MS00006671
miR-202	AGAGGUAUAGGGCAUGGGAA	MS0000903
miR-135	UAUGGCUUUUUAUUCCUAUGUGA	MS00008624

Table 2.3: Priority list of miRNAs to test for a functional role at the *GHR* 3'UTR based on # positive miRNA programs, if conserved, if sites in 3'UTRs of87678 related genes, as well as physiological and pathophysiological links.

Same seed sequence miRNAs	Number of prediction programs*	Parallel presence of miR binding sites in 3'UTRs of related genes	Physiological links	Pathophysiological links
15/16/103/ 107/195/424/ 497/503	4	<i>GHR</i> (human to chicken), <i>IGF-I, IGF-IR, IGF-2R</i>	 Ubiquitous expression in human tissues (Finnerty <i>et al.</i>, 2010) Opposite effect of GH: proapoptotic (Le <i>et al.</i>, 2010; Rovira <i>et al.</i>, 2010), anti-proliferative (Aqeilan <i>et al.</i>, 2010; Biggar and Storey, 2011; Zhou and Wang, 2011), antiangiogenic (Sun <i>et al.</i>, 2013) 15/16 levels in bone inverse correlation with bone mineral density (BMD) (Reppe <i>et al.</i>, 2010) 15/103 decrease adipocyte number but increase size (Andersen <i>et al.</i>, 2010; Trajkovski <i>et al.</i>, 2011) 16: high expression in GI crypt cells + diurnal rhythm opposite to GHR (Balakrishnan <i>et al.</i>, 2010) 15/16 ↓IGF1R in B lymphocytes (Klein <i>et al.</i>, 2010) \$TAT5 regulates 15/16 expression (Li <i>et al.</i>, 2010) ↑15/103/107 in livers of ob/ob mice (Trajkovski <i>et al.</i>, 2011) 	 15/16↓ in prostate cancer (Bonci <i>et al.</i>, 2008), parallel to ↑GHR + IGF-IR 15/16/103↓ in prostate cancer (Porkka <i>et al.</i>, 2007; Porkka <i>et al.</i>, 2011), parallel to ↑GHR 15/16↓ in somatotrope adenomas (Bottoni <i>et al.</i>, 2005) 15/16/195↓ in hepatic and colon cancers (Chen <i>et al.</i>, 2004; Huang and He, 2011; Wang <i>et al.</i>, 2012), parallel to ↑GHR 107↓ in lung cancer (Takahashi <i>et al.</i>, 2009) 195/497↓ in breast cancer (Lehmann <i>et al.</i>, 2010; Li <i>et al.</i>, 2011) 15/103↓ in AML (Dixon-McIver <i>et al.</i>, 2008)

202/(Let7 family)	4 (2 sites)	<i>GHR</i> (all species examined), <i>IGF-I, IGF-IR, GHRHR, CIS</i>	 Expression in human tissues (Dong <i>et al.</i>, 2010) Strong negative regulator of MYCN (Buechner <i>et al.</i>, 2011) 	 Let7↓ in hepatic, prostate and breast cancers (Dong <i>et al.</i>, 2001; Huang and He, 2011), parallel to ↑ GHR 202↓ in lung cancer (Nymark <i>et al.</i>, 2011)
129-5p	3 (3 sites)	GHR (primate, dog, mouse), IGF-I, STAT5b, ETS1	• Induces G (1) phase arrest (Tsai <i>et al.</i> , 2011)	↓ 129-5p in gastric, CNS and colorectal cancers (Bandres <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Birks <i>et al.</i> , 2011; Tsai <i>et al.</i> , 2011)
142-3p	2	GHR (primate) SH2B1, GFI-1	• Role in circadian rhythms (Tan <i>et al.</i> , 2012)	\downarrow 142-3p in colon cancer (Shen <i>et al.</i> , 2013), parallel to \uparrow GHR
135	2	<i>GHR</i> (primate, rat, opossum, chicken), <i>JAK2, STAT6</i>	 Inhibitory effects on osteoblastogenesis (Li <i>et al.</i>, 2008) Down regulation of JAK2 (Navarro <i>et al.</i>, 2009) 	 ↑ in colon cancer (Nagel <i>et al.</i>, 2008; Koga <i>et al.</i>, 2010) Inhibitory effect on cell invasion (Golubovskaya <i>et al.</i>, 2013)

* MiRNA prediction programs used in analysis: TargetScan, PicTar, Miranda (micrRNA.org), miRDB, Microcosm.



Figure 2.1: Putative miR binding sites in the human *GHR* 3'UTR

Schematic representation of the 3'UTR sequence from the human *GHR* mRNA indicating the potential miRNA binding sites within the sequence tested during the present study. A, B and C denote multiple binding sites for the same miR.



Figure 2.2: Endogenous levels of miRs in HEK293 cells

QPCR analysis of the expression of mature miRNAs in HEK293 cells; data are normalized to *U6B*. Results are the means of four independent experiments of different passages of HEK293 cells \pm SE. # denotes members of the miR-15/-16 family.



Figure 2.3: Effect of miRs on the Luc-GHR 3'UTR reporter vector

Effects of 1-100nM miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p and miR-202, and 10-100nM miR-16 on the pmiR-Luc-*GHR* 3'UTR reporter vector were examined in HEK293 cells. Data are presented as mean \pm SE (n=5). All results were normalized to the empty Luc reporter vector and to negative mimic control treatment at each mimic dose followed by the calculation of luciferase/ β -galactosidase ratios. Results for the first three miRs were highly significant by both ANOVA and Tukey group comparison tests, while the miR-16 data were significant for ANOVA (p<0.05) but not Tukey group comparisons. This is likely due to the relatively high level of endogenous miR-16 in the HEK293 cells. *p \leq 0.05 and ***p \leq 0.001 vs. negative mimics.



129/A (7mer)	Position 488-494 of <i>GHR</i> 3'UTR <i>hsa-</i> miR-129-5p	5' AUUUAAACUAUAAGCA AGAAG GCAAAAA U 3' . 3' <i>C</i> GUUCG <i>GG</i> UCU <i>GG</i> CGUUUUUU <i>C</i> 5'
129/B (7mer)	Position 873-880 of <i>GHR</i> 3'UTR <i>hsa</i> -miR-129-5p	5'CAGGCACCAAAAGAAGUAAAA GCAAAAA 3' . 3' <i>C</i> GUUCG <i>C</i> GG <i>C</i> UCU <i>GG</i> CGUUUUU <i>C</i> 5'
129/C (6mer)	Position 914-920 of <i>GHR</i> 3' UTR <i>hsa-</i> miR-129-5p	5' <i>UUCAC</i> CAAAUCU <i>U</i> GGUUGA <i>UGCCAAAAA 3' . . 3'<i>C</i>GUU<i>C</i>GGG<i>U</i>CUGGC GUUUUU<i>C</i> 5'</i>



С

В



Figure 2.4: Reporter assays of wild type and mutant GHR 3'UTR vectors

(A) Effects of 50nM miR mimics on wild type *vs.* mutant *GHR* 3'UTR reporter vectors. Results are presented as mean \pm SE (n=4 for all but miR-202/AB n=5). (B) Schematic representation of hybridisation between miR-129-5p and its three putative *GHR* 3'UTR binding sites (A, B and C): the seed sites are bold, non-complimentary nucleotides are italicized, lines represent Watson-Crick complementarity and dots represent U to G Wobble. (C) Reporter assays of wild type *GHR* 3'UTR and the predicted miR-129-5p single, double and triple mutants. Data are presented as mean \pm SE (n=4). (D) Schematic representation of hybridization between miR-202 and its two putative binding sites in the *GHR* 3'UTR (A and B): the seed sites are bold, non-complimentary nucleotides are italicized, lines represent Watson-Crick complementarity and dots represent U to G Wobble. (E) Normalized data from luciferase assays of single and double mutants of miR-202 binding sites compared to the wild type vector. Results are presented as mean \pm SE (n=5). ns = not significant, **p≤ 0.01, ***p≤ 0.001.



Figure 2.5: Studies of the effect of miRs on endogenous GHR at the mRNA level

Expression of human total *GHR* mRNA in HEK293 cells transfected with 50nM of miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-202 and miR-16 mimics. The data are presented as mean \pm SE of three individual experiments for all but miR-142-3p (n=5); duplicates were assayed within each experiment. Statistically significant differences between the control and miR-treated cells were found for miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-202 (***p \leq 0.001) and miR-16 (*p \leq 0.05).





(A) Representative Western blot of GHR and calnexin protein levels in HEK293 cells following transfections with 50nM of miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-202 and miR-16 mimics. (B) Composite results for n=4 individual experiments (M \pm SE) showing statistically significant differences between negative control and miR-treated cells: ***p \leq 0.001 for all treatments for both ANOVA and Tukey group comparison tests.

CHAPTER 3

FINAL DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

3.1 GHR-Regulating MiRNAs

The effects of GH in its target tissues are dependent on the number and functional state of its receptor, GHR. Because the GH/GHR axis is involved in many significant cellular processes, including proliferation, differentiation, anti-apoptosis and cell migration, tight regulation of GHR expression is critical. Indeed, it is well recognized that faulty regulatory systems that lead to abnormal under- or over-expression of GHR result in multiple disorders in both humans and animals (e.g. severe short stature, obesity, cancer progression).

Although extensive studies of the human *GHR* gene have revealed complex transcriptional regulation within its 5'UTR (detailed in Chapter 1), regulatory effects via its 3'UTR have been overlooked. In the present study, we examined the possible role of miRNAs and identified that, in HEK293 cells, four miRNAs have potent posttranscriptional effects: miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-202 and miR-16. The ability of these miRNAs to regulate GHR expression was shown to be due to binding to specific sequences within the 3'UTR of *GHR* mRNA: site-directed mutagenesis of each site abolished the repressive effects (**Figure 2.5**). Multiple *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies of the possible mechanisms by which miRNAs exert their suppressive effects on protein expression have revealed that they either block mRNA translation and/or promote mRNA deadenylation and subsequent degradation (Lee *et al.*, 1993; Wightman *et al.*, 1993; Olsen and Ambros, 1999; Chen *et al.*, 2004). Data from our experiments showed that endogenous expression of both *GHR* mRNA and protein was decreased in HEK293 cells transfected with miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-202 or miR-16 mimics, suggesting that the primary mechanism

by which these miRNAs act is by degrading the *GHR* mRNA (Figures 2.6 A and B).

We used HEK293 cells as a model in which to test our hypothesis that miRNAs can regulate GHR expression. These cells have been widely used by others as well as ourselves for GHR studies because of their abundant GHR expression, their ability to activate known GH/GHR downstream signaling pathways and the fact that they are easy to grow and transfect. That being said, we cannot rule out that miRNA:GHR mRNA functional interactions are cell- or tissue-specific. Thus, our next experiments should be to examine whether the four miRs have effects in a variety of different cell types. In addition, to address if any of these miRs play a role in the pathogenesis of GHR expression in certain disorders, miRNA expression profiling of the tissues or cells where GHR under- or over-expression has been detected *vs*. their normal counterparts should be performed. Since miRNAs generally repress GHR expression, we expect to see an inverse correlation for levels of each miRNA *vs*. GHR. Subsequent experiments, introducing miR mimics or inhibitors into the cells, will help to determine the relative ability of the miRs to regulate GHR expression and may provide evidence for the efficacy of using miR therapy to reverse a GHR-related pathophysiological state.

MiR-129-5p: MiR-129 in humans is transcribed from two loci, *hsa-miR-129-1* and *hsa-miR-129-2*. *Hsa-miR-129-1* is located on chromosome 7, close to a fragile site region (FRA7H) that is frequently deleted in many cancers (Calin *et al.*, 2004), while *hsa-miR-129-2* is found at 11p11.2, embedded in a CpG island. Methylation of the *hsa-miR-129-2* CpG island has been frequently observed in colorectal cancer cell lines and in primary colorectal cancer tumors but not in normal colonic mucosa. In a study by Bandres et al., *hsa-miR-129-2* was found to be epigenetically regulated by aberrant DNA methylation and histone modification in colorectal

cancer cell lines (Bandres *et al.*, 2009). Furthermore, expression of hsa-miR-129 was upregulated when a demethylating agent or an inhibitor of histone deacetylases was used.

These findings suggest a tumor suppressor role for miR-129. Indeed miR-129-5p was found by multiple studies to be down-regulated in both colorectal cancer cell lines and tumor tissues from patients with colorectal cancers compared to controls (Bandres *et al.*, 2006; Karaayvaz *et al.*, 2013). In addition, Karaayvaz *et al.* found that the expression of miR-129-5p was significantly reduced in patients with stage 3 and 4 of the disease compared with normal or adenoma tissues. Recently miR-129 has been found to directly inhibit the expression of BCL2 leading to activation of the intrinsic apoptosis pathway; BCL2 is an antiapoptotic gene involved in an evolutionarily conserved intrinsic apoptosis pathway (Karaayvaz *et al.*, 2013).

Because a major role of the GH/GHR axis is also to block apoptosis, it is logical to test if regulation of GHR by miR-129, or more precisely up-regulation of GHR due to decreased expression of miR-129, contributes to the progression of colorectal cancer. Treatment of colorectal cell lines (e.g. HTC29, Caco-2, SW40) with miR-129 mimics should be followed by Real time PCR and western blotting analyses to determine the endogenous effects of miR-129 on both *GHR* mRNA and protein. We expect to observe down-regulation of GHR expression by miR-129 and, in parallel, a decrease in GH activation of its signaling pathways that promote proliferation and anti-apoptosis.

Furthermore, miR-129-5p has putative binding sites in the *STAT5b*, *IGF-I* and *IGF-IR* mRNA 3'UTRs, suggesting that it could affect multiple steps in the GHR signaling pathway. Thus, it would be interesting also to look at the effects of miR-129 mimics on the expression of these mRNAs and proteins, in both normal and tumor cells.

MiR-142-3p: *Hsa-miR-142-3p* is transcribed from a single gene located at chromosome 17q23, in a region that has been found to be susceptible to DNA alterations. For example, it is close to two translocation breakpoint regions (8 and 17), which cause an aggressive form of B cell acute leukemia. In addition, hsa-miR-142-3p is located near the FRA17B site, a target for HPV16 integration in breast and cervical cancers (Calin *et al.*, 2004). These findings suggest a critical tumor suppressor role for miR-142-3p in multiple tumor types.

In chapter 2, we demonstrated the regulation of GHR expression by miR-142-3p in HEK293 cells. Interestingly, according to multiple miRNA prediction programs, miR-142-3p is also a potential regulator of the prolactin receptor (PRLR). The human PRLR is structurally similar to the human GHR, especially within the ICD (Goffin and Kelly, 1997), and both receptors activate similar major signaling pathways, most commonly the JAK2/STAT cascade. Prolactin is a pituitary hormone mainly involved in milk protein production and, along with GH, it has an important role in development of the mammary gland (Wennbo *et al.*, 1997).

Several lines of evidence also support the involvement of both PRL and GH in breast cancer, including increased expression of their receptors (Peirce *et al.*, 2001; Clevenger, 2003; Meng *et al.*, 2004). In addition, GH has been found to bind and stimulate signaling pathways through homo- or heterodimers of GHR and PRLR in T47D breast cancer cell lines (Xu *et al.*, 2011; Xu *et al.*, 2013). Since the expression of both GHR and PRLR has been associated strongly with breast cancer, it would be extremely beneficial to determine if miR-142-3p, as a common miRNA repressor, might be useful as a therapy. To do this, several experiments need to be carried out. Initially, the regulation of PRLR by miR-142-3p needs to be validated experimentally by luciferase reporter assays, site-directed mutagenesis and mimic experiments, similar to what we have done for GHR in HEK293 cells. Second, expression profiling of miR-

142-3p, GHR and PRLR should be done in several breast cancer and control cell lines (e.g.: T47D, MCF7 and MCF10a) in order to determine the background profile for each *in vitro* cell model. Third, cultures of these mammary cells should be treated with miR-142-3p mimics and the expression of both GHR and PRLR at mRNA and protein levels monitored (by qPCR and western blots). Fourth, to determine the repressive effect of miR-142-3p on the oncogenic roles of both receptors, T47D and/or MCF7 cells treated with miR-142-3p mimics should be examined for changes in proliferation, apoptosis and migration compared to negative mimic treated control cells. Finally to assess, *in vivo*, the pathophysiological role of miR-142-3p on GHR and PRLR overexpression, miR-142-3p, GHR and PRLR expression should be investigated in variety of breast cancer tissues paired with normal control tissues from breast cancer patients. The goal would be to determine if specific subgroups would benefit most from the development of a new miRNA- based therapy.

In addition, miR-142-3p has been shown to be down-regulated in colon cancer tissues and, when overexpressed in multiple colorectal cancer cell lines, it acted as a tumor suppressor, inhibiting proliferation (Shen *et al.*, 2013). As mentioned earlier, GHR has been strongly implicated in the progression of colorectal cancer. Thus, the relationship between miR-142-3p and GHR expression in colorectal cancer needs to be verified and explored experimentally in experiments similar to the ones mentioned above, using colorectal cancer cell lines and tissues. Interestingly, as in breast cancer, higher expression of both GHR and PRLR has been observed in colon cancer tissues and cell lines compared to normal controls (Otte *et al.*, 2003; Neradugomma *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, there may be a beneficial role for miR-142-3p in multiple tumor types that overexpress GHR and/or PRLR.

MiR-202: The *miR-202* gene is located within chromosome 10q26: deletion of this region has been associated with endometrial and brain tumors. MiR-202 expression has also been reported to be down-regulated in many cancers, including breast cancer (Iorio *et al.*, 2005; Schrauder *et al.*, 2012), cervical cancer (Zhang *et al.*, 2009), colorectal cancer (Ng *et al.*, 2009), gastric cancer (Zhao *et al.*, 2013) and follicular lymphoma (Hoffman *et al.*, 2013). As the down-regulation of miR-202 occurs in multiple malignancies, the focus of future studies of its role in regulating GHR expression in cancers will depend on initial miRNA and GHR expression profiling in a spectrum of cancer cell lines representing the above mentioned cancers. As observed for miR-129-5p, miR-202 is predicted to target several members of the GH/GHR axis (*GHRHR, GHR, IGF-I, IGF-IR and CIS*). Further experiments looking at the effects miR-202 mimics on these targets could have the potential to validate a valuable new therapeutic tool to tightly regulate the activity of the GH/GHR/IGF-I axis at multiple levels. In addition, to determine the mechanism(s) behind the fairly common down-regulation of miR-202 in several types of cancers, genetic, epigenetic and molecular studies of the *miR-202* gene promoter should be carried out.

MiR-16: MiR-16 belongs to the miR-15/16 miRNA family, which contains 18 different miRNA members with strong influences on human health and disease (Finnerty *et al.*, 2010). MiR-16 is ubiquitously expressed at high levels in normal human tissues and is produced from two different gene clusters: *miR-15a/16-1* and *miR-15b/16-2* (Finnerty *et al.*, 2010). The *miR-15a/16-1* cluster is located at chr13q14.3 and is hosted by the noncoding *DLEU2* gene in a region that is deleted in more than 50% of CLL patiants (Calin *et al.*, 2002) and in 65% of prostate cancer cases (Brookman-Amissah *et al.*, 2007). On the other hand, the *miR-15b/16-2* cluster is located on chromosome 3 and hosted by the SMC4 gene; the SMC4 protein forms a complex with other

proteins and regulates cell chromosome stability, assembly and segregation (Fujioka *et al.*, 2002; Hirano, 2002; Losada and Hirano, 2005). This cluster may also have roles in blood pressure, diabetes, prostate cancer and other diseases (Yue and Tigyi, 2010).

The mature miR-15a and -16 are thought to exert their tumor suppressor functions by targeting multiple oncogenes, including the anti-apoptotic protein, BCL2, which is overexpressed in the malignant B-cells of CLL (Bonci *et al.*, 2008; Lerner *et al.*, 2009; Klein *et al.*, 2010), cyclin D1, a well-known promoter of cell proliferation, and WNT3A, an activator of pivotal oncogenic pathways such as AKT and MAPK (Almeida *et al.*, 2005).

In a genome-wide transcriptome study of the molecular basis for miR-15a/16 tumor suppression in leukemia, the leukemic cell model, MEG-01, was modulated to highly express both miR-15a and -16 (Calin et al., 2008). Interestingly, the transcriptome analysis showed a down-regulation of 3307 genes, including GHR (p=0.018). Our experiments showed the suppressive effect of miR-16 mimics on GHR expression in HEK293 cells. GHR is widely expressed in human lymphocytes, including T cells, B cells and several leukemic cell lines (Hattori et al., 2001). In addition, experimental evidence has suggested a role for GH/GHR in survival and proliferation of the pro-B Ba/F3 cell line (Dinerstein et al., 1995; Jeav et al., 2000; Baixeras et al., 2001). Based on these observations, we propose a role for miR-16 in regulating GHR expression in lymphocytes and that, escape from this regulation, by decreased expression or deletion of miR-15a/16-1, may lead to enhanced activation of the GH/GHR axis, with subsequent progression of the leukemic state. To further investigate the role of miR-16 on GHR expression in leukemia, experiments using MEG-01 or Ba/F3 cell lines and treatments with miR-16 mimics should be carried out, followed by assessments GHR mRNA and protein levels, proliferation and apoptosis.

It is also intriguing that the *miR-15b/16-2* gene promoter has been found to be negatively regulated by STAT5, a downstream effector of GH-activated GHR, resulting in decreased miR-15b and miR-16 expression levels (Li *et al.*, 2010). These data suggest that there may be a coordinated regulation allowing for communication between the level of GH/GHR axis activity and miR-15a/16 expression via STAT5.

3.2 Alternative MiRNA Regulatory Mechanisms

According to a new miRNA prediction tool (DIANA-microT-CDS web server v5.o; http:www.microrna.gr/microT-CDS) (Reczko *et al.*, 2012; Paraskevopoulou *et al.*, 2013), there are additional miRNA binding sites for the miR-16 and Let7 families, including miR-202, in the coding region sequence of exon 10 of the human *GHR* mRNA, which might play a role in miRNA regulation of GHR expression. Although miRs have been shown to have effects at sites outside the 3'UTR region of mRNAs (Reczko *et al.*, 2012), the exon 10 sites may be more important in regulating expression of the truncated forms of GHR: these represent up to 10% of total GHR and occur due to alternative splicing in exon 9, converting exon 10 to 3'UTR status (Ross *et al.*, 1997).

On the other hand, the usage of multiple polyadenylation signals within the 3'UTR of genes can result in changes in the length of the 3'UTR, which may result in loss of miRNA binding sites, causing escape from the specific miRNA regulation. To check if this mechanism is used as a mode of regulating the *GHR* gene, 3'RACE experiments should be carried out to determine the length and sequences of *GHR* 3'UTRs from cDNAs prepared from different cell lines as well as tissues originating from different organs at various developmental stages and from GHR-related disorders. These investigations may help to uncover another layer of *GHR* gene regulation important for understanding changes in GH effectiveness due to tissue specificity, developmental stages and GHR-related pathophysiological processes.

In summary, our study has demonstrated significant inhibitory effects of miR-129-5p, miR-142-3p, miR-202 and miR-16 on human *GHR* mRNA and protein expression in HEK293 cells. These findings lay the foundation for unraveling novel mechanisms behind the roles of GHR in multiple pathophysiologies. In addition, they may permit the development of new therapeutic approaches to oppose the tumorigenic role of the GH/GHR axis in specific cancers.

REFERENCES

- ALMEIDA, M., HAN, L., BELLIDO, T., et al. 2005. Wnt proteins prevent apoptosis of both uncommitted osteoblast progenitors and differentiated osteoblasts by beta-catenin-dependent and -independent signaling cascades involving Src/ERK and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/AKT. *J Biol Chem*, 280, 41342-51.
- AMBROS, V. 2004. The functions of animal microRNAs. *Nature*, 431, 350-5.
- AMBROS, V., BARTEL, B., BARTEL, D. P., et al. 2003. A uniform system for microRNA annotation. *RNA*, 9, 277-9.
- AMBS, S., PRUEITT, R. L., YI, M., et al. 2008. Genomic profiling of microRNA and messenger RNA reveals deregulated microRNA expression in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res*, 68, 6162-70.
- ANDERSEN, D. C., JENSEN, C. H., SCHNEIDER, M., et al. 2010. MicroRNA-15a finetunes the level of Delta-like 1 homolog (DLK1) in proliferating 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *Exp Cell Res*, 316, 1681-91.
- ANDREASSI, C. & RICCIO, A. 2009. To localize or not to localize: mRNA fate is in 3'UTR ends. *Trends Cell Biol*, 19, 465-74.
- AQEILAN, R. I., CALIN, G. A. & CROCE, C. M. 2010. miR-15a and miR-16-1 in cancer: discovery, function and future perspectives. *Cell Death Differ*, 17, 215-20.
- ARAKI, T., HAYAKAWA, K., HAYASHI, S., et al. 1986. Percutaneous transhepatic cavography of dual obstruction of the inferior vena cava. *Br J Radiol*, 59, 937-40.
- ARGETSINGER, L. S. & CARTER-SU, C. 1996. Mechanism of signaling by growth hormone receptor. *Physiol Rev*, 76, 1089-107.
- ARVAT, E., DI VITO, L., BROGLIO, F., et al. 2000. Preliminary evidence that Ghrelin, the natural GH secretagogue (GHS)-receptor ligand, strongly stimulates GH secretion in humans. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 23, 493-5.
- AYLING, R. 2004. More guidance on growth hormone deficiency. J Clin Pathol, 57, 123-5.
- **BADER, A. G.** 2012. miR-34 a microRNA replacement therapy is headed to the clinic. *Front Genet*, 3, 120.
- BAEK, D., VILLEN, J., SHIN, C., et al. 2008. The impact of microRNAs on protein output. *Nature*, 455, 64-71.
- **BAIXERAS, E., JEAY, S., KELLY, P. A., et al.** 2001. The proliferative and antiapoptotic actions of growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-1 are mediated through distinct signaling pathways in the Pro-B Ba/F3 cell line. *Endocrinology*, 142, 2968-77.

- **BALAKRISHNAN, A., STEARNS, A. T., PARK, P. J., et al.** 2010. MicroRNA mir-16 is antiproliferative in enterocytes and exhibits diurnal rhythmicity in intestinal crypts. *Exp Cell Res*, 316, 3512-21.
- **BANDRES, E., AGIRRE, X., BITARTE, N., et al.** 2009. Epigenetic regulation of microRNA expression in colorectal cancer. *Int J Cancer*, 125, 2737-43.
- **BANDRES, E., CUBEDO, E., AGIRRE, X., et al.** 2006. Identification by Real-time PCR of 13 mature microRNAs differentially expressed in colorectal cancer and non-tumoral tissues. *Mol Cancer*, 5, 29.
- **BARCLAY, J. L., KERR, L. M., ARTHUR, L., et al.** 2010. In vivo targeting of the growth hormone receptor (GHR) Box1 sequence demonstrates that the GHR does not signal exclusively through JAK2. *Mol Endocrinol*, 24, 204-17.
- **BARTEL, D. P.** 2009. MicroRNAs: target recognition and regulatory functions. *Cell*, 136, 215-33.
- BARTON, D. E., FOELLMER, B. E., WOOD, W. I., et al. 1989. Chromosome mapping of the growth hormone receptor gene in man and mouse. *Cytogenet Cell Genet*, 50, 137-41.
- BAUMANN, G. P. 2009. Growth hormone isoforms. Growth Horm IGF Res, 19, 333-40.
- BAUMGARTNER, J. W., WELLS, C. A., CHEN, C. M., et al. 1994. The role of the WSXWS equivalent motif in growth hormone receptor function. *J Biol Chem*, 269, 29094-101.
- **BEHNCKEN, S. N. & WATERS, M. J.** 1999. Molecular recognition events involved in the activation of the growth hormone receptor by growth hormone. *J Mol Recognit*, 12, 355-62.
- **BERELOWITZ, M., SZABO, M., FROHMAN, L. A., et al.** 1981. Somatomedin-C mediates growth hormone negative feedback by effects on both the hypothalamus and the pituitary. *Science*, 212, 1279-81.
- **BHASKARAN, M. & MOHAN, M.** 2013. MicroRNAs: History, Biogenesis, and Their Evolving Role in Animal Development and Disease. *Vet Pathol.*
- BHATTACHARYA, R., NICOLOSO, M., ARVIZO, R., et al. 2009. MiR-15a and MiR-16 control Bmi-1 expression in ovarian cancer. *Cancer Res*, 69, 9090-5.
- **BIGGAR, K. K. & STOREY, K. B.** 2011. The emerging roles of microRNAs in the molecular responses of metabolic rate depression. *J Mol Cell Biol*, 3, 167-75.
- BIRKS, D. K., BARTON, V. N., DONSON, A. M., et al. 2011. Survey of MicroRNA expression in pediatric brain tumors. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*, 56, 211-6.

- BIRZNIECE, V., SATA, A. & HO, K. K. 2009. Growth hormone receptor modulators. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*, 10, 145-56.
- **BLENKIRON, C., GOLDSTEIN, L. D., THORNE, N. P., et al.** 2007. MicroRNA expression profiling of human breast cancer identifies new markers of tumor subtype. *Genome Biol,* 8, R214.
- BONA, G., PARACCHINI, R., GIORDANO, M., et al. 2004. Genetic defects in GH synthesis and secretion. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 151 Suppl 1, S3-9.
- BONCI, D., COPPOLA, V., MUSUMECI, M., et al. 2008. The miR-15a-miR-16-1 cluster controls prostate cancer by targeting multiple oncogenic activities. *Nat Med*, 14, 1271-7.
- BONIOLI, E., TARO, M., ROSA, C. L., et al. 2005. Heterozygous mutations of growth hormone receptor gene in children with idiopathic short stature. *Growth Horm IGF Res*, 15, 405-10.
- BOTTONI, A., PICCIN, D., TAGLIATI, F., et al. 2005. miR-15a and miR-16-1 down-regulation in pituitary adenomas. *J Cell Physiol*, 204, 280-5.
- **BROOKMAN-AMISSAH, N., NARICULAM, J., FREEMAN, A., et al.** 2007. Allelic imbalance at 13q14.2 approximately q14.3 in localized prostate cancer is associated with early biochemical relapse. *Cancer Genet Cytogenet*, 179, 118-26.
- BROOKS, A. J. & WATERS, M. J. 2010. The growth hormone receptor: mechanism of activation and clinical implications. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*, 6, 515-25.
- BROOKS, A. J., WOOH, J. W., TUNNY, K. A., et al. 2008. Growth hormone receptor; mechanism of action. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 40, 1984-9.
- **BUECHNER, J., TOMTE, E., HAUG, B. H., et al.** 2011. Tumour-suppressor microRNAs let-7 and mir-101 target the proto-oncogene MYCN and inhibit cell proliferation in MYCNamplified neuroblastoma. *Br J Cancer*, 105, 296-303.
- CALIN, G. A., CIMMINO, A., FABBRI, M., et al. 2008. MiR-15a and miR-16-1 cluster functions in human leukemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 5166-71.
- CALIN, G. A., DUMITRU, C. D., SHIMIZU, M., et al. 2002. Frequent deletions and downregulation of micro- RNA genes miR15 and miR16 at 13q14 in chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 99, 15524-9.
- CALIN, G. A., SEVIGNANI, C., DUMITRU, C. D., et al. 2004. Human microRNA genes are frequently located at fragile sites and genomic regions involved in cancers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 2999-3004.
- CHAMBARD, J. C., LEFLOCH, R., POUYSSEGUR, J., et al. 2007. ERK implication in cell cycle regulation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1773, 1299-310.

- CHANG, L. & KARIN, M. 2001. Mammalian MAP kinase signalling cascades. *Nature*, 410, 37-40.
- CHANG, T. C. & MENDELL, J. T. 2007. microRNAs in vertebrate physiology and human disease. *Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet*, 8, 215-39.
- CHEKULAEVA, M. & FILIPOWICZ, W. 2009. Mechanisms of miRNA-mediated posttranscriptional regulation in animal cells. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 21, 452-60.
- CHEN, C. Z., LI, L., LODISH, H. F., et al. 2004. MicroRNAs modulate hematopoietic lineage differentiation. *Science*, 303, 83-6.
- CHENG, A. M., BYROM, M. W., SHELTON, J., et al. 2005. Antisense inhibition of human miRNAs and indications for an involvement of miRNA in cell growth and apoptosis. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 33, 1290-7.
- CHOPIN, L. K., VEVERIS-LOWE, T. L., PHILIPPS, A. F., et al. 2002. Co-expression of GH and GHR isoforms in prostate cancer cell lines. *Growth Horm IGF Res*, 12, 126-36.
- CLAYTON, P. E., BANERJEE, I., MURRAY, P. G., et al. 2011. Growth hormone, the insulin-like growth factor axis, insulin and cancer risk. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*, 7, 11-24.
- CLEVENGER, C. V. 2003. Role of prolactin/prolactin receptor signaling in human breast cancer. *Breast Dis*, 18, 75-86.
- COPELAND, K. C. & NAIR, K. S. 1994. Acute growth hormone effects on amino acid and lipid metabolism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 78, 1040-7.
- COPPOLA, V., DE MARIA, R. & BONCI, D. 2010. MicroRNAs and prostate cancer. *Endocr Relat Cancer*, 17, F1-17.
- CORNBLATH, M. & ICHORD, R. 2000. Hypoglycemia in the neonate. Semin Perinatol, 24, 136-49.
- **COSTINEAN, S., ZANESI, N., PEKARSKY, Y., et al.** 2006. Pre-B cell proliferation and lymphoblastic leukemia/high-grade lymphoma in E(mu)-miR155 transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 7024-9.
- **CROCE, C. M.** 2009. Causes and consequences of microRNA dysregulation in cancer. *Nat Rev Genet*, 10, 704-14.
- **DAGNAES-HANSEN, F., DUAN, H., RASMUSSEN, L. M., et al.** 2004. Growth hormone receptor antagonist administration inhibits growth of human colorectal carcinoma in nude mice. *Anticancer Res*, 24, 3735-42.
- **DATTANI, M. T.** 2003. DNA testing in patients with GH deficiency at the time of transition. *Growth Horm IGF Res,* 13 Suppl A, S122-9.

- **DERR, M. A., FANG, P., SINHA, S. K., et al.** 2011. A novel Y332C missense mutation in the intracellular domain of the human growth hormone receptor does not alter STAT5b signaling: redundancy of GHR intracellular tyrosines involved in STAT5b signaling. *Horm Res Paediatr*, 75, 187-99.
- **DI MARTINO, M. T., LEONE, E., AMODIO, N., et al.** 2012. Synthetic miR-34a mimics as a novel therapeutic agent for multiple myeloma: in vitro and in vivo evidence. *Clin Cancer Res*, 18, 6260-70.
- **DINERSTEIN, H., LAGO, F., GOUJON, L., et al.** 1995. The proline-rich region of the GH receptor is essential for JAK2 phosphorylation, activation of cell proliferation, and gene transcription. *Mol Endocrinol*, 9, 1701-7.
- **DIXON-MCIVER, A., EAST, P., MEIN, C. A., et al.** 2008. Distinctive patterns of microRNA expression associated with karyotype in acute myeloid leukaemia. *PLoS One*, **3**, e2141.
- **DOMINICI, F. P., CIFONE, D., BARTKE, A., et al.** 1999. Loss of sensitivity to insulin at early events of the insulin signaling pathway in the liver of growth hormone-transgenic mice. *J Endocrinol*, 161, 383-92.
- DONG, J. T., BOYD, J. C. & FRIERSON, H. F., JR. 2001. Loss of heterozygosity at 13q14 and 13q21 in high grade, high stage prostate cancer. *Prostate*, 49, 166-71.
- **DONG, Q., MENG, P., WANG, T., et al.** 2010. MicroRNA let-7a inhibits proliferation of human prostate cancer cells in vitro and in vivo by targeting E2F2 and CCND2. *PLoS One*, 5, e10147.
- EDENS, A. & TALAMANTES, F. 1998. Alternative processing of growth hormone receptor transcripts. *Endocr Rev*, 19, 559-82.
- ERMAN, A., WABITSCH, M. & GOODYER, C. G. 2011. Human growth hormone receptor (GHR) expression in obesity: II. Regulation of the human GHR gene by obesity-related factors. *Int J Obes (Lond)*, 35, 1520-9.
- **FABIAN, M. R., SONENBERG, N. & FILIPOWICZ, W.** 2010. Regulation of mRNA translation and stability by microRNAs. *Annu Rev Biochem*, 79, 351-79.
- FARESE, R. V., SAJAN, M. P. & STANDAERT, M. L. 2005. Insulin-sensitive protein kinases (atypical protein kinase C and protein kinase B/Akt): actions and defects in obesity and type II diabetes. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*, 230, 593-605.
- FELDMAN, M., RUAN, W., CUNNINGHAM, B. C., et al. 1993. Evidence that the growth hormone receptor mediates differentiation and development of the mammary gland. *Endocrinology*, 133, 1602-8.
- **FENG, X. & SHENG, L.** 2013. Gastric adenocarcinoma with thyroid metastasis: A case study and literature review. *Oncol Lett*, 5, 1653-1655.

- FENG, Z., ZHANG, H., LEVINE, A. J., et al. 2005. The coordinate regulation of the p53 and mTOR pathways in cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102, 8204-9.
- **FINNERTY, J. R., WANG, W. X., HEBERT, S. S., et al.** 2010. The miR-15/107 group of microRNA genes: evolutionary biology, cellular functions, and roles in human diseases. *J Mol Biol*, 402, 491-509.
- FLORES-MORALES, A., GREENHALGH, C. J., NORSTEDT, G., et al. 2006. Negative regulation of growth hormone receptor signaling. *Mol Endocrinol*, 20, 241-53.
- FROHMAN, L. A., DOWNS, T. R. & CHOMCZYNSKI, P. 1992. Regulation of growth hormone secretion. *Front Neuroendocrinol*, 13, 344-405.
- **FRYBURG, D. A. & BARRETT, E. J.** 1999. Physiological effects and potential applications of GH and IGF-I. *Diabetes Nutr Metab*, 12, 329-36.
- **FRYBURG, D. A., GELFAND, R. A. & BARRETT, E. J.** 1991. Growth hormone acutely stimulates forearm muscle protein synthesis in normal humans. *Am J Physiol*, 260, E499-504.
- **FUJIOKA, Y., KIMATA, Y., NOMAGUCHI, K., et al.** 2002. Identification of a novel nonstructural maintenance of chromosomes (SMC) component of the SMC5-SMC6 complex involved in DNA repair. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 21585-91.
- GEBRE-MEDHIN, M., KINDBLOM, L. G., WENNBO, H., et al. 2001. Growth hormone receptor is expressed in human breast cancer. *Am J Pathol*, 158, 1217-22.
- GHYKA, G. R. & CERNESCU, C. 1975. Virus-induced modifications in the immunogenicity of red blood cells. *Virologie*, 26, 109-15.
- GILPIN, D. A., BARROW, R. E., RUTAN, R. L., et al. 1994. Recombinant human growth hormone accelerates wound healing in children with large cutaneous burns. *Ann Surg*, 220, 19-24.
- GODDARD, A. D., COVELLO, R., LUOH, S. M., et al. 1995. Mutations of the growth hormone receptor in children with idiopathic short stature. The Growth Hormone Insensitivity Study Group. *N Engl J Med*, 333, 1093-8.
- GODDARD, A. D., DOWD, P., CHERNAUSEK, S., et al. 1997. Partial growth-hormone insensitivity: the role of growth-hormone receptor mutations in idiopathic short stature. *J Pediatr*, 131, S51-5.
- GODOWSKI, P. J., LEUNG, D. W., MEACHAM, L. R., et al. 1989. Characterization of the human growth hormone receptor gene and demonstration of a partial gene deletion in two patients with Laron-type dwarfism. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 86, 8083-7.
- GOFFIN, V. & KELLY, P. A. 1997. The prolactin/growth hormone receptor family: structure/function relationships. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*, 2, 7-17.

- GOH, E. L., PIRCHER, T. J., WOOD, T. J., et al. 1997. Growth hormone-induced reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton is not required for STAT5 (signal transducer and activator of transcription-5)-mediated transcription. *Endocrinology*, 138, 3207-15.
- GOLUBOVSKAYA, V. M., SUMBLER, B., HO, B., et al. 2013. MiR-138 and MiR-135 Directly Target Focal Adhesion Kinase, Inhibit Cell Invasion, and Increase Sensitivity to Chemotherapy in Cancer Cells. *Anticancer Agents Med Chem*.
- GOODYER, C. G., BRANCHAUD, C. L. & LEFEBVRE, Y. 1993. Effects of growth hormone (GH)-releasing factor and somatostatin on GH secretion from early to midgestation human fetal pituitaries. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 76, 1259-64.
- **GOODYER, C. G., RHANI, Z. & ZHENG, H.** 2008. Expression of the hepatic specific V1 messenger ribonucleic acid of the human growth hormone receptor gene is regulated by hepatic nuclear factor (HNF)-4alpha2 and HNF-4alpha8. *Mol Endocrinol,* 22, 485-500.
- GOODYER, C. G., ZOGOPOULOS, G., SCHWARTZBAUER, G., et al. 2001. Organization and evolution of the human growth hormone receptor gene 5'-flanking region. *Endocrinology*, 142, 1923-34.
- GORE, D. C., HONEYCUTT, D., JAHOOR, F., et al. 1991. Effect of exogenous growth hormone on whole-body and isolated-limb protein kinetics in burned patients. *Arch Surg*, 126, 38-43.
- **GREENHALGH, C. J., RICO-BAUTISTA, E., LORENTZON, M., et al.** 2005. SOCS2 negatively regulates growth hormone action in vitro and in vivo. *J Clin Invest*, 115, 397-406.
- **GROFTE, T., WOLTHERS, T., JENSEN, S. A., et al.** 1997. Effects of growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-I singly and in combination on in vivo capacity of urea synthesis, gene expression of urea cycle enzymes, and organ nitrogen contents in rats. *Hepatology*, 25, 964-9.
- GRONBERG, H. 2003. Prostate cancer epidemiology. Lancet, 361, 859-64.
- GUEVARA-AGUIRRE, J., BALASUBRAMANIAN, P., GUEVARA-AGUIRRE, M., et al. 2011. Growth hormone receptor deficiency is associated with a major reduction in proaging signaling, cancer, and diabetes in humans. *Sci Transl Med*, 3, 70ra13.
- GUO, H., INGOLIA, N. T., WEISSMAN, J. S., et al. 2010. Mammalian microRNAs predominantly act to decrease target mRNA levels. *Nature*, 466, 835-40.
- HART, D. W., HERNDON, D. N., KLEIN, G., et al. 2001. Attenuation of posttraumatic muscle catabolism and osteopenia by long-term growth hormone therapy. *Ann Surg*, 233, 827-34.

- HARTMAN, M. L., VELDHUIS, J. D., JOHNSON, M. L., et al. 1992. Augmented growth hormone (GH) secretory burst frequency and amplitude mediate enhanced GH secretion during a two-day fast in normal men. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 74, 757-65.
- HARVEY, S. & HULL, K. L. 1997. Growth hormone. A paracrine growth factor? *Endocrine*, 7, 267-79.
- HATTORI, N., SAITO, T., YAGYU, T., et al. 2001. GH, GH receptor, GH secretagogue receptor, and ghrelin expression in human T cells, B cells, and neutrophils. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 86, 4284-91.
- HAUSSECKER, D. & KAY, M. A. 2010. miR-122 continues to blaze the trail for microRNA therapeutics. *Mol Ther*, 18, 240-2.
- HAYASHI, A. A. & PROUD, C. G. 2007. The rapid activation of protein synthesis by growth hormone requires signaling through mTOR. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 292, E1647-55.
- HAYASHITA, Y., OSADA, H., TATEMATSU, Y., et al. 2005. A polycistronic microRNA cluster, miR-17-92, is overexpressed in human lung cancers and enhances cell proliferation. *Cancer Res*, 65, 9628-32.
- **HERRINGTON, J. & CARTER-SU, C.** 2001. Signaling pathways activated by the growth hormone receptor. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 12, 252-7.
- HIRANO, T. 2002. The ABCs of SMC proteins: two-armed ATPases for chromosome condensation, cohesion, and repair. *Genes Dev*, 16, 399-414.
- HODGE, C., LIAO, J., STOFEGA, M., et al. 1998. Growth hormone stimulates phosphorylation and activation of elk-1 and expression of c-fos, egr-1, and junB through activation of extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 31327-36.
- HOFFMAN, A. E., LIU, R., FU, A., et al. 2013. Targetome profiling, pathway analysis and genetic association study implicate miR-202 in lymphomagenesis. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev*, 22, 327-36.
- HOMSI, J., CUBITT, C. & DAUD, A. 2007. The Src signaling pathway: a potential target in melanoma and other malignancies. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*, 11, 91-100.
- HUANG, S. & HE, X. 2011. The role of microRNAs in liver cancer progression. *Br J Cancer*, 104, 235-40.
- HUJEIRAT, Y., HESS, O., SHALEV, S., et al. 2006. Growth hormone receptor sequence changes do not play a role in determining height in children with idiopathic short stature. *Horm Res*, 65, 210-6.
- HWANG, H. W. & MENDELL, J. T. 2006. MicroRNAs in cell proliferation, cell death, and tumorigenesis. *Br J Cancer*, 94, 776-80.

- IORIO, M. V., FERRACIN, M., LIU, C. G., et al. 2005. MicroRNA gene expression deregulation in human breast cancer. *Cancer Res*, 65, 7065-70.
- **ISAKSSON, O. G., LINDAHL, A., NILSSON, A., et al.** 1987. Mechanism of the stimulatory effect of growth hormone on longitudinal bone growth. *Endocr Rev,* 8, 426-38.
- **ISPOLATOVA, A. V.** 1968. [The nature of the adsorption reaction of erythrocytes conjugated with soluble proteins]. *Biull Eksp Biol Med*, 66, 63-5.
- **ITOH, E., IIDA, K., DEL RINCON, J. P., et al.** 2004. Diurnal variation in growth hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid in liver and skeletal muscle of lit/+ and lit/lit mice. *Endocr J*, 51, 529-35.
- JEAY, S., SONENSHEIN, G. E., POSTEL-VINAY, M. C., et al. 2000. Growth hormone prevents apoptosis through activation of nuclear factor-kappaB in interleukin-3-dependent Ba/F3 cell line. *Mol Endocrinol*, 14, 650-61.
- JOHANSSON, M., MCKAY, J. D., STATTIN, P., et al. 2007. Comprehensive evaluation of genetic variation in the IGF1 gene and risk of prostate cancer. *Int J Cancer*, 120, 539-42.
- JOHN, B., ENRIGHT, A. J., ARAVIN, A., et al. 2004. Human MicroRNA targets. *PLoS Biol*, 2, e363.
- JORGENSEN, J. O., PEDERSEN, S. A., THUESEN, L., et al. 1989. Beneficial effects of growth hormone treatment in GH-deficient adults. *Lancet*, 1, 1221-5.
- JORGENSEN, J. O., RUBECK, K. Z., NIELSEN, T. S., et al. 2010. Effects of GH in human muscle and fat. *Pediatr Nephrol*, 25, 705-9.
- KARAAYVAZ, M., ZHAI, H. & JU, J. 2013. miR-129 promotes apoptosis and enhances chemosensitivity to 5-fluorouracil in colorectal cancer. *Cell Death Dis*, 4, e659.
- **KARP, X. & AMBROS, V.** 2005. Developmental biology. Encountering microRNAs in cell fate signaling. *Science*, 310, 1288-9.
- **KELLY, P. A., BACHELOT, A., KEDZIA, C., et al.** 2002. The role of prolactin and growth hormone in mammary gland development. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 197, 127-31.
- **KENTH, G., PUZHKO, S. & GOODYER, C. G.** 2011. Human growth hormone receptor gene expression is regulated by Gfi-1/1b and GAGA cis-elements. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 335, 135-47.
- KHVOROVA, A., REYNOLDS, A. & JAYASENA, S. D. 2003. Functional siRNAs and miRNAs exhibit strand bias. *Cell*, 115, 209-16.
- **KIM, G. H. & PARK, R. H.** 1988. Reduction of the blocking effect in block-coded images using a model of early human vision. *Spat Vis,* 3, 143-50.

- KLEIN, U., LIA, M., CRESPO, M., et al. 2010. The DLEU2/miR-15a/16-1 cluster controls B cell proliferation and its deletion leads to chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer Cell*, 17, 28-40.
- **KLEINBERG, D. L.** 1997. Early mammary development: growth hormone and IGF-I. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 2, 49-57.
- KLEINBERG, D. L. & RUAN, W. 2008. IGF-I, GH, and sex steroid effects in normal mammary gland development. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*, 13, 353-60.
- **KLEINBERG, D. L., WOOD, T. L., FURTH, P. A., et al.** 2009. Growth hormone and insulinlike growth factor-I in the transition from normal mammary development to preneoplastic mammary lesions. *Endocr Rev*, 30, 51-74.
- KOGA, Y., YASUNAGA, M., TAKAHASHI, A., et al. 2010. MicroRNA expression profiling of exfoliated colonocytes isolated from feces for colorectal cancer screening. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila)*, 3, 1435-42.
- KOLLE, S., SINOWATZ, F., BOIE, G., et al. 1999. Expression of growth hormone receptor in human prostatic carcinoma and hyperplasia. *Int J Oncol*, 14, 911-6.
- KOPCHICK, J. J. & OKADA, S. 2001. Growth hormone receptor antagonists: discovery and potential uses. *Growth Horm IGF Res*, 11 Suppl A, S103-9.
- KOPP, K. L., RALFKIAER, U., GJERDRUM, L. M., et al. 2013. STAT5-mediated expression of oncogenic miR-155 in cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Cell Cycle*, 12, 1939-47.
- KOZOMARA, A. & GRIFFITHS-JONES, S. 2011. miRBase: integrating microRNA annotation and deep-sequencing data. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 39, D152-7.
- KREK, A., GRUN, D., POY, M. N., et al. 2005. Combinatorial microRNA target predictions. *Nat Genet*, 37, 495-500.
- **KRUPCZAK-HOLLIS, K., WANG, X., DENNEWITZ, M. B., et al.** 2003. Growth hormone stimulates proliferation of old-aged regenerating liver through forkhead box m1b. *Hepatology*, 38, 1552-62.
- KUROSU, Y., FUKAMACHI, S. & MORITA, K. 1984. The significance of relationship of the presence of nonspecific suppressor cells in spleens with gastric cancer-related pathology. *Jpn J Surg*, 14, 293-8.
- LAGOS-QUINTANA, M., RAUHUT, R., LENDECKEL, W., et al. 2001. Identification of novel genes coding for small expressed RNAs. *Science*, 294, 853-8.
- LAL, S. O., WOLF, S. E. & HERNDON, D. N. 2000. Growth hormone, burns and tissue healing. *Growth Horm IGF Res*, 10 Suppl B, S39-43.

- LANNING, N. J. & CARTER-SU, C. 2006. Recent advances in growth hormone signaling. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*, 7, 225-35.
- LAU, N. C., LIM, L. P., WEINSTEIN, E. G., et al. 2001. An abundant class of tiny RNAs with probable regulatory roles in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science*, 294, 858-62.
- LE QUESNE, J. & CALDAS, C. 2010. Micro-RNAs and breast cancer. Mol Oncol, 4, 230-41.
- LE ROITH, D., BONDY, C., YAKAR, S., et al. 2001. The somatomedin hypothesis: 2001. Endocr Rev, 22, 53-74.
- LE, X. F., MERCHANT, O., BAST, R. C., et al. 2010. The Roles of MicroRNAs in the Cancer Invasion-Metastasis Cascade. *Cancer Microenviron*, 3, 137-47.
- LEE, R. C. & AMBROS, V. 2001. An extensive class of small RNAs in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Science*, 294, 862-4.
- LEE, R. C., FEINBAUM, R. L. & AMBROS, V. 1993. The C. elegans heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell*, 75, 843-54.
- LEHMANN, U., STREICHERT, T., OTTO, B., et al. 2010. Identification of differentially expressed microRNAs in human male breast cancer. *BMC Cancer*, 10, 109.
- **LEHR, H. A., HANSEN, D. A., KUSSICK, S., et al.** 1999. Assessment of proliferative activity in breast cancer: MIB-1 immunohistochemistry versus mitotic figure count. *Hum Pathol*, 30, 1314-20.
- **LERNER, M., HARADA, M., LOVEN, J., et al.** 2009. DLEU2, frequently deleted in malignancy, functions as a critical host gene of the cell cycle inhibitory microRNAs miR-15a and miR-16-1. *Exp Cell Res*, 315, 2941-52.
- LEVY, D. E. & DARNELL, J. E., JR. 2002. Stats: transcriptional control and biological impact. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 3, 651-62.
- **LEWIS, B. P., BURGE, C. B. & BARTEL, D. P.** 2005. Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. *Cell*, 120, 15-20.
- LI, D., ZHAO, Y., LIU, C., et al. 2011. Analysis of MiR-195 and MiR-497 expression, regulation and role in breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res*, 17, 1722-30.
- LI, G., MISKIMEN, K. L., WANG, Z., et al. 2010. STAT5 requires the N-domain for suppression of miR15/16, induction of bcl-2, and survival signaling in myeloproliferative disease. *Blood*, 115, 1416-24.
- LI, Z., HASSAN, M. Q., VOLINIA, S., et al. 2008. A microRNA signature for a BMP2induced osteoblast lineage commitment program. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 105, 13906-11.

- LICHANSKA, A. M. & WATERS, M. J. 2008a. How growth hormone controls growth, obesity and sexual dimorphism. *Trends Genet*, 24, 41-7.
- LICHANSKA, A. M. & WATERS, M. J. 2008b. New insights into growth hormone receptor function and clinical implications. *Horm Res*, 69, 138-45.
- LIN, Y., LI, S., CAO, P., et al. 2011. The effects of recombinant human GH on promoting tumor growth depend on the expression of GH receptor in vivo. *J Endocrinol*, 211, 249-56.
- LINCOLN, D. T., SINGAL, P. K. & AL-BANAW, A. 2007. Growth hormone in vascular pathology: neovascularization and expression of receptors is associated with cellular proliferation. *Anticancer Res*, 27, 4201-18.
- LOBIE, P. E., SADIR, R., GRAICHEN, R., et al. 1999. Caveolar internalization of growth hormone. *Exp Cell Res*, 246, 47-55.
- LOSADA, A. & HIRANO, T. 2005. Dynamic molecular linkers of the genome: the first decade of SMC proteins. *Genes Dev*, 19, 1269-87.
- LOW, J. F., HERNDON, D. N. & BARROW, R. E. 1999. Effect of growth hormone on growth delay in burned children: a 3-year follow-up study. *Lancet*, 354, 1789.
- LU, J., GETZ, G., MISKA, E. A., et al. 2005. MicroRNA expression profiles classify human cancers. *Nature*, 435, 834-8.
- LUFT, R. & OLIVECRONA, H. 1957. Hypophysectomy in the treatment of malignant tumors. *Cancer*, 10, 789-94.
- LYNAM-LENNON, N., MAHER, S. G. & REYNOLDS, J. V. 2009. The roles of microRNA in cancer and apoptosis. *Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc*, 84, 55-71.
- MANABE, N., KUBOTA, Y., KITANAKA, A., et al. 2006. Src transduces signaling via growth hormone (GH)-activated GH receptor (GHR) tyrosine-phosphorylating GHR and STAT5 in human leukemia cells. *Leuk Res*, 30, 1391-8.
- MASON, W. T., DICKSON, S. L. & LENG, G. 1993. Control of growth hormone secretion at the single cell level. *Acta Paediatr Suppl*, 388, 84-92; discussion 93.
- MAURAS, N. & HAYMOND, M. W. 2005. Are the metabolic effects of GH and IGF-I separable? *Growth Horm IGF Res*, 15, 19-27.
- MCELVAINE, A. T. & MAYO, K. E. 2006. A dominant-negative human growth hormonereleasing hormone (GHRH) receptor splice variant inhibits GHRH binding. *Endocrinology*, 147, 1884-94.
- MEISTER, G. & TUSCHL, T. 2004. Mechanisms of gene silencing by double-stranded RNA. *Nature*, 431, 343-9.

- MENASHE, I., MAEDER, D., GARCIA-CLOSAS, M., et al. 2010. Pathway analysis of breast cancer genome-wide association study highlights three pathways and one canonical signaling cascade. *Cancer Res*, 70, 4453-9.
- MENDELL, J. T. & OLSON, E. N. 2012. MicroRNAs in stress signaling and human disease. *Cell*, 148, 1172-87.
- MENG, J., TSAI-MORRIS, C. H. & DUFAU, M. L. 2004. Human prolactin receptor variants in breast cancer: low ratio of short forms to the long-form human prolactin receptor associated with mammary carcinoma. *Cancer Res*, 64, 5677-82.
- METCALF, D., GREENHALGH, C. J., VINEY, E., et al. 2000. Gigantism in mice lacking suppressor of cytokine signalling-2. *Nature*, 405, 1069-73.
- MICHAEL, M. Z., SM, O. C., VAN HOLST PELLEKAAN, N. G., et al. 2003. Reduced accumulation of specific microRNAs in colorectal neoplasia. *Mol Cancer Res*, 1, 882-91.
- MOLLER, N. & JORGENSEN, J. O. 2009. Effects of growth hormone on glucose, lipid, and protein metabolism in human subjects. *Endocr Rev*, 30, 152-77.
- MOLLER, N., JORGENSEN, J. O., ABILDGARD, N., et al. 1991. Effects of growth hormone on glucose metabolism. *Horm Res*, 36 Suppl 1, 32-5.
- MOLLER, N., VENDELBO, M. H., KAMPMANN, U., et al. 2009. Growth hormone and protein metabolism. *Clin Nutr*, 28, 597-603.
- MONTEYS, A. M., SPENGLER, R. M., WAN, J., et al. 2010. Structure and activity of putative intronic miRNA promoters. *RNA*, 16, 495-505.
- MURAKAMI, Y., YASUDA, T., SAIGO, K., et al. 2006. Comprehensive analysis of microRNA expression patterns in hepatocellular carcinoma and non-tumorous tissues. *Oncogene*, 25, 2537-45.
- NAGANO, M., CHASTRE, E., CHOQUET, A., et al. 1995. Expression of prolactin and growth hormone receptor genes and their isoforms in the gastrointestinal tract. *Am J Physiol*, 268, G431-42.
- NAGEL, R., LE SAGE, C., DIOSDADO, B., et al. 2008. Regulation of the adenomatous polyposis coli gene by the miR-135 family in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res*, 68, 5795-802.
- NAVARRO, A., DIAZ, T., MARTINEZ, A., et al. 2009. Regulation of JAK2 by miR-135a: prognostic impact in classic Hodgkin lymphoma. *Blood*, 114, 2945-51.
- NERADUGOMMA, N. K., SUBRAMANIAM, D., TAWFIK, O., et al. 2013. Prolactin induces Notch signaling in a Jak2-STAT and Jak2-ERK pathways in colon cancer stem and progenitor cells. *Carcinogenesis*.

- NEWMAN, C. B. 1999. Medical therapy for acromegaly. *Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am*, 28, 171-90.
- NG, E. K., CHONG, W. W., JIN, H., et al. 2009. Differential expression of microRNAs in plasma of patients with colorectal cancer: a potential marker for colorectal cancer screening. *Gut*, 58, 1375-81.
- NYMARK, P., GULED, M., BORZE, I., et al. 2011. Integrative analysis of microRNA, mRNA and aCGH data reveals asbestos- and histology-related changes in lung cancer. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*, 50, 585-97.
- O'NEILL, L. A., SHEEDY, F. J. & MCCOY, C. E. 2011. MicroRNAs: the fine-tuners of Tolllike receptor signalling. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 11, 163-75.
- **OLSEN, P. H. & AMBROS, V.** 1999. The lin-4 regulatory RNA controls developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans by blocking LIN-14 protein synthesis after the initiation of translation. *Dev Biol*, 216, 671-80.
- ORLOVSKII, I. V., SVERDLOVA, P. S. & RUBTSOV, P. M. 2004. [Fine structure, expression and polymorphism of the human growth hormone receptor gene]. *Mol Biol* (*Mosk*), 38, 29-39.
- **OSAKI, M., TAKESHITA, F. & OCHIYA, T.** 2008. MicroRNAs as biomarkers and therapeutic drugs in human cancer. *Biomarkers*, 13, 658-70.
- **OTTE, J. M., OTTE, C., BECKEDORF, S., et al.** 2003. Expression of functional prolactin and its receptor in human colorectal cancer. *Int J Colorectal Dis,* 18, 86-94.
- OZSOLAK, F., POLING, L. L., WANG, Z., et al. 2008. Chromatin structure analyses identify miRNA promoters. *Genes Dev*, 22, 3172-83.
- PALLANTE, P., VISONE, R., CROCE, C. M., et al. 2010. Deregulation of microRNA expression in follicular-cell-derived human thyroid carcinomas. *Endocr Relat Cancer*, 17, F91-104.
- PARASKEVOPOULOU, M. D., GEORGAKILAS, G., KOSTOULAS, N., et al. 2013. DIANA-microT web server v5.0: service integration into miRNA functional analysis workflows. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 41, W169-73.
- PARSONS, S. J. & PARSONS, J. T. 2004. Src family kinases, key regulators of signal transduction. *Oncogene*, 23, 7906-9.
- PEIRCE, S. K., CHEN, W. Y. & CHEN, W. Y. 2001. Quantification of prolactin receptor mRNA in multiple human tissues and cancer cell lines by real time RT-PCR. *J Endocrinol*, 171, R1-4.

- **PEKHLETSKY, R. I., CHERNOV, B. K. & RUBTSOV, P. M.** 1992. Variants of the 5'untranslated sequence of human growth hormone receptor mRNA. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 90, 103-9.
- PERRY, J. K., EMERALD, B. S., MERTANI, H. C., et al. 2006. The oncogenic potential of growth hormone. *Growth Horm IGF Res*, 16, 277-89.
- PERRY, J. K., LIU, D. X., WU, Z. S., et al. 2013. Growth hormone and cancer: an update on progress. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes*, 20, 307-13.
- **PETROCCA, F., VISONE, R., ONELLI, M. R., et al.** 2008. E2F1-regulated microRNAs impair TGFbeta-dependent cell-cycle arrest and apoptosis in gastric cancer. *Cancer Cell*, 13, 272-86.
- **POGER, D. & MARK, A. E.** 2010. Turning the growth hormone receptor on: evidence that hormone binding induces subunit rotation. *Proteins*, 78, 1163-74.
- **PORKKA, K. P., OGG, E. L., SARAMAKI, O. R., et al.** 2011. The miR-15a-miR-16-1 locus is homozygously deleted in a subset of prostate cancers. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*, 50, 499-509.
- **PORKKA, K. P., PFEIFFER, M. J., WALTERING, K. K., et al.** 2007. MicroRNA expression profiling in prostate cancer. *Cancer Res*, 67, 6130-5.
- POY, M. N., ELIASSON, L., KRUTZFELDT, J., et al. 2004. A pancreatic islet-specific microRNA regulates insulin secretion. *Nature*, 432, 226-30.
- **QIN, S., AI, F., JI, W. F., et al.** 2013. miR-19a Promotes Cell Growth and Tumorigenesis through Targeting SOCS1 in Gastric Cancer. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev*, 14, 835-40.
- RAM, P. A. & WAXMAN, D. J. 1999. SOCS/CIS protein inhibition of growth hormonestimulated STAT5 signaling by multiple mechanisms. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 35553-61.
- RAN, G., LIN, Y., CAO, P., et al. 2013. [Effect of rhGH on JAK2-STAT3 signal pathway after GHR was down-regulated by siRNA in gastric cancer cell]. *Yao Xue Xue Bao*, 48, 435-40.
- **RECZKO, M., MARAGKAKIS, M., ALEXIOU, P., et al.** 2012. Functional microRNA targets in protein coding sequences. *Bioinformatics*, 28, 771-6.
- **REHMSMEIER, M., STEFFEN, P., HOCHSMANN, M., et al.** 2004. Fast and effective prediction of microRNA/target duplexes. *RNA*, 10, 1507-17.
- **REPPE, S., REFVEM, H., GAUTVIK, V. T., et al.** 2010. Eight genes are highly associated with BMD variation in postmenopausal Caucasian women. *Bone,* 46, 604-12.

- RIVAS, M. A., VENTURUTTI, L., HUANG, Y. W., et al. 2012. Downregulation of the tumor-suppressor miR-16 via progestin-mediated oncogenic signaling contributes to breast cancer development. *Breast Cancer Res*, 14, R77.
- ROOYACKERS, O. E. & NAIR, K. S. 1997. Hormonal regulation of human muscle protein metabolism. *Annu Rev Nutr*, 17, 457-85.
- **ROSENFELD, R. G., BELGOROSKY, A., CAMACHO-HUBNER, C., et al.** 2007. Defects in growth hormone receptor signaling. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 18, 134-41.
- **ROSENFELD, R. G., ROSENBLOOM, A. L. & GUEVARA-AGUIRRE, J.** 1994. Growth hormone (GH) insensitivity due to primary GH receptor deficiency. *Endocr Rev*, 15, 369-90.
- **ROSS, R. J., ESPOSITO, N., SHEN, X. Y., et al.** 1997. A short isoform of the human growth hormone receptor functions as a dominant negative inhibitor of the full-length receptor and generates large amounts of binding protein. *Mol Endocrinol*, 11, 265-73.
- **ROTWEIN, P.** 2012. Mapping the growth hormone--Stat5b--IGF-I transcriptional circuit. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*, 23, 186-93.
- ROVIRA, C., GUIDA, M. C. & CAYOTA, A. 2010. MicroRNAs and other small silencing RNAs in cancer. *IUBMB Life*, 62, 859-68.
- **ROWLINSON, S. W., YOSHIZATO, H., BARCLAY, J. L., et al.** 2008. An agonist-induced conformational change in the growth hormone receptor determines the choice of signalling pathway. *Nat Cell Biol*, 10, 740-7.
- SACHSE, M., VAN KERKHOF, P., STROUS, G. J., et al. 2001. The ubiquitin-dependent endocytosis motif is required for efficient incorporation of growth hormone receptor in clathrin-coated pits, but not clathrin-coated lattices. *J Cell Sci*, 114, 3943-52.
- SAKAUE, H., OGAWA, W., TAKATA, M., et al. 1997. Phosphoinositide 3-kinase is required for insulin-induced but not for growth hormone- or hyperosmolarity-induced glucose uptake in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *Mol Endocrinol*, 11, 1552-62.
- SANCHEZ, J. E., PERERA, E., BAUMBACH, L., et al. 1998. Growth hormone receptor mutations in children with idiopathic short stature. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 83, 4079-83.
- SAVAGE, M. O., ATTIE, K. M., DAVID, A., et al. 2006. Endocrine assessment, molecular characterization and treatment of growth hormone insensitivity disorders. *Nat Clin Pract Endocrinol Metab*, 2, 395-407.
- SAVAGE, M. O., BLAIR, J. C., BURREN, C. P., et al. 2002. Phenotypic variability in growth hormone insensitivity. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab*, 15 Suppl 5, 1449-50.

- SCHETTER, A. J., LEUNG, S. Y., SOHN, J. J., et al. 2008. MicroRNA expression profiles associated with prognosis and therapeutic outcome in colon adenocarcinoma. *JAMA*, 299, 425-36.
- SCHICKEL, R., BOYERINAS, B., PARK, S. M., et al. 2008. MicroRNAs: key players in the immune system, differentiation, tumorigenesis and cell death. *Oncogene*, 27, 5959-74.
- SCHNEIDER, C. A., RASBAND, W. S. & ELICEIRI, K. W. 2012. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nat Methods*, 9, 671-5.
- SCHRAUDER, M. G., STRICK, R., SCHULZ-WENDTLAND, R., et al. 2012. Circulating micro-RNAs as potential blood-based markers for early stage breast cancer detection. *PLoS One*, 7, e29770.
- SCHWARTZBAUER, G., YU, J. H., CHENG, H., et al. 1998. Transcription factor MSY-1 regulates expression of the murine growth hormone receptor gene. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 24760-9.
- SCHWARZ, D. S., HUTVAGNER, G., DU, T., et al. 2003. Asymmetry in the assembly of the RNAi enzyme complex. *Cell*, 115, 199-208.
- SELBACH, M., SCHWANHAUSSER, B., THIERFELDER, N., et al. 2008. Widespread changes in protein synthesis induced by microRNAs. *Nature*, 455, 58-63.
- SHEN, W. W., ZENG, Z., ZHU, W. X., et al. 2013. MiR-142-3p functions as a tumor suppressor by targeting CD133, ABCG2, and Lgr5 in colon cancer cells. *J Mol Med* (*Berl*), 91, 989-1000.
- SHENDE, V. R., NEUENDORFF, N. & EARNEST, D. J. 2013. Role of miR-142-3p in the post-transcriptional regulation of the clock gene Bmal1 in the mouse SCN. *PLoS One*, 8, e65300.
- SHENOUDA, S. K. & ALAHARI, S. K. 2009. MicroRNA function in cancer: oncogene or a tumor suppressor? *Cancer Metastasis Rev*, 28, 369-78.
- SHUAI, K. 1999. The STAT family of proteins in cytokine signaling. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol*, 71, 405-22.
- SIOMI, H. & SIOMI, M. C. 2010. Posttranscriptional regulation of microRNA biogenesis in animals. *Mol Cell*, 38, 323-32.
- **SKALSKY, R. L. & CULLEN, B. R.** 2011. Reduced expression of brain-enriched microRNAs in glioblastomas permits targeted regulation of a cell death gene. *PLoS One*, 6, e24248.
- SLABY, O., SVOBODA, M., MICHALEK, J., et al. 2009. MicroRNAs in colorectal cancer: translation of molecular biology into clinical application. *Mol Cancer*, 8, 102.
- SOIFER, H. S., ROSSI, J. J. & SAETROM, P. 2007. MicroRNAs in disease and potential therapeutic applications. *Mol Ther*, 15, 2070-9.
- SONNTAG, W. E., LYNCH, C., THORNTON, P., et al. 2000. The effects of growth hormone and IGF-I deficiency on cerebrovascular and brain ageing. *J Anat*, 197 Pt 4, 575-85.
- STEFANI, G. & SLACK, F. J. 2008. Small non-coding RNAs in animal development. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 9, 219-30.
- **STEUERMAN, R., SHEVAH, O. & LARON, Z.** 2011. Congenital IGF1 deficiency tends to confer protection against post-natal development of malignancies. *Eur J Endocrinol*, 164, 485-9.
- SUN, C. Y., SHE, X. M., QIN, Y., et al. 2013. miR-15a and miR-16 affect the angiogenesis of multiple myeloma by targeting VEGF. *Carcinogenesis*, 34, 426-35.
- SZAFRANSKA, A. E., DOLESHAL, M., EDMUNDS, H. S., et al. 2008. Analysis of microRNAs in pancreatic fine-needle aspirates can classify benign and malignant tissues. *Clin Chem*, 54, 1716-24.
- **TAKAHASHI, Y., FORREST, A. R., MAENO, E., et al.** 2009. MiR-107 and MiR-185 can induce cell cycle arrest in human non small cell lung cancer cell lines. *PLoS One,* 4, e6677.
- TAKAHASHI, Y., KIPNIS, D. M. & DAUGHADAY, W. H. 1968. Growth hormone secretion during sleep. *J Clin Invest*, 47, 2079-90.
- **TAKAMIZAWA, J., KONISHI, H., YANAGISAWA, K., et al.** 2004. Reduced expression of the let-7 microRNAs in human lung cancers in association with shortened postoperative survival. *Cancer Res*, 64, 3753-6.
- TAN, X., ZHANG, P., ZHOU, L., et al. 2012. Clock-controlled mir-142-3p can target its activator, Bmal1. *BMC Mol Biol*, 13, 27.
- TANG, X., TANG, G. & OZCAN, S. 2008. Role of microRNAs in diabetes. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1779, 697-701.
- **TESSELAAR, K. & MIEDEMA, F.** 2008. Growth hormone resurrects adult human thymus during HIV-1 infection. *J Clin Invest*, 118, 844-7.
- **THOMAS, S. M. & BRUGGE, J. S.** 1997. Cellular functions regulated by Src family kinases. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*, 13, 513-609.
- TOMANKOVA, T., PETREK, M. & KRIEGOVA, E. 2010. Involvement of microRNAs in physiological and pathological processes in the lung. *Respir Res*, 11, 159.
- TONG, A. W., FULGHAM, P., JAY, C., et al. 2009. MicroRNA profile analysis of human prostate cancers. *Cancer Gene Ther*, 16, 206-16.

- **TOYOTA, M., SUZUKI, H., SASAKI, Y., et al.** 2008. Epigenetic silencing of microRNA-34b/c and B-cell translocation gene 4 is associated with CpG island methylation in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res*, 68, 4123-32.
- **TRAJKOVSKI, M., HAUSSER, J., SOUTSCHEK, J., et al.** 2011. MicroRNAs 103 and 107 regulate insulin sensitivity. *Nature*, 474, 649-53.
- **TSAI, K. W., WU, C. W., HU, L. Y., et al.** 2011. Epigenetic regulation of miR-34b and miR-129 expression in gastric cancer. *Int J Cancer*, 129, 2600-10.
- **UDY, G. B., TOWERS, R. P., SNELL, R. G., et al.** 1997. Requirement of STAT5b for sexual dimorphism of body growth rates and liver gene expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 94, 7239-44.
- **UNGUREANU, D., SAHARINEN, P., JUNTTILA, I., et al.** 2002. Regulation of Jak2 through the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway involves phosphorylation of Jak2 on Y1007 and interaction with SOCS-1. *Mol Cell Biol*, 22, 3316-26.
- **UYTTENDAELE, I., LEMMENS, I., VERHEE, A., et al.** 2007. Mammalian protein-protein interaction trap (MAPPIT) analysis of STAT5, CIS, and SOCS2 interactions with the growth hormone receptor. *Mol Endocrinol*, 21, 2821-31.
- VAN 'T VEER, L. J., DAI, H., VAN DE VIJVER, M. J., et al. 2002. Gene expression profiling predicts clinical outcome of breast cancer. *Nature*, 415, 530-6.
- VAN CAUTER, E., PLAT, L. & COPINSCHI, G. 1998. Interrelations between sleep and the somatotropic axis. *Sleep*, 21, 553-66.
- VAN DER EERDEN, B. C., KARPERIEN, M. & WIT, J. M. 2003. Systemic and local regulation of the growth plate. *Endocr Rev*, 24, 782-801.
- VAN ROOIJ, E. 2011. The art of microRNA research. Circ Res, 108, 219-34.
- VANDERKUUR, J. A., BUTCH, E. R., WATERS, S. B., et al. 1997. Signaling molecules involved in coupling growth hormone receptor to mitogen-activated protein kinase activation. *Endocrinology*, 138, 4301-7.
- VELDHUIS, J. D., ROEMMICH, J. N., RICHMOND, E. J., et al. 2005. Endocrine control of body composition in infancy, childhood, and puberty. *Endocr Rev*, 26, 114-46.
- VIDAL, O. M., MERINO, R., RICO-BAUTISTA, E., et al. 2007. In vivo transcript profiling and phylogenetic analysis identifies suppressor of cytokine signaling 2 as a direct signal transducer and activator of transcription 5b target in liver. *Mol Endocrinol*, 21, 293-311.
- VIDARSDOTTIR, S., WALENKAMP, M. J., PEREIRA, A. M., et al. 2006. Clinical and biochemical characteristics of a male patient with a novel homozygous STAT5b mutation. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 91, 3482-5.

- VLEURICK, L., PEZET, A., KUHN, E. R., et al. 1999. A beta-turn endocytic code is required for optimal internalization of the growth hormone receptor but not for alpha-adaptin association. *Mol Endocrinol*, 13, 1823-31.
- VOLINIA, S., CALIN, G. A., LIU, C. G., et al. 2006. A microRNA expression signature of human solid tumors defines cancer gene targets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 103, 2257-61.
- WAHID, F., SHEHZAD, A., KHAN, T., et al. 2010. MicroRNAs: synthesis, mechanism, function, and recent clinical trials. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1803, 1231-43.
- WANG, X. 2008. miRDB: a microRNA target prediction and functional annotation database with a wiki interface. *RNA*, 14, 1012-7.
- WANG, X. & EL NAQA, I. M. 2008. Prediction of both conserved and nonconserved microRNA targets in animals. *Bioinformatics*, 24, 325-32.
- WANG, X., WANG, J., MA, H., et al. 2012. Downregulation of miR-195 correlates with lymph node metastasis and poor prognosis in colorectal cancer. *Med Oncol*, 29, 919-27.
- WANG, X., XUAN, Z., ZHAO, X., et al. 2009. High-resolution human core-promoter prediction with CoreBoost_HM. *Genome Res*, 19, 266-75.
- WANG, Y., LEE, A. T., MA, J. Z., et al. 2008. Profiling microRNA expression in hepatocellular carcinoma reveals microRNA-224 up-regulation and apoptosis inhibitor-5 as a microRNA-224-specific target. *J Biol Chem*, 283, 13205-15.
- WANG, Z., PRINS, G. S., COSCHIGANO, K. T., et al. 2005. Disruption of growth hormone signaling retards early stages of prostate carcinogenesis in the C3(1)/T antigen mouse. *Endocrinology*, 146, 5188-96.
- WEBB, S. M., CASANUEVA, F. & WASS, J. A. 2002. Oncological complications of excess GH in acromegaly. *Pituitary*, 5, 21-5.
- WEI, Y., PUZHKO, S., WABITSCH, M., et al. 2009. Transcriptional regulation of the human growth hormone receptor (hGHR) gene V2 promoter by transcriptional activators and repressor. *Mol Endocrinol*, 23, 373-87.
- WEI, Y., RHANI, Z. & GOODYER, C. G. 2006. Characterization of growth hormone receptor messenger ribonucleic acid variants in human adipocytes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 91, 1901-8.
- WEISS-MESSER, E., MEROM, O., ADI, A., et al. 2004. Growth hormone (GH) receptors in prostate cancer: gene expression in human tissues and cell lines and characterization, GH signaling and androgen receptor regulation in LNCaP cells. *Mol Cell Endocrinol*, 220, 109-23.

- WENNBO, H., GEBRE-MEDHIN, M., GRITLI-LINDE, A., et al. 1997. Activation of the prolactin receptor but not the growth hormone receptor is important for induction of mammary tumors in transgenic mice. *J Clin Invest*, 100, 2744-51.
- WIGHTMAN, B., HA, I. & RUVKUN, G. 1993. Posttranscriptional regulation of the heterochronic gene lin-14 by lin-4 mediates temporal pattern formation in C. elegans. *Cell*, 75, 855-62.
- WONG, K. K., ENGELMAN, J. A. & CANTLEY, L. C. 2010. Targeting the PI3K signaling pathway in cancer. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 20, 87-90.
- WREN, A. M., SMALL, C. J., WARD, H. L., et al. 2000. The novel hypothalamic peptide ghrelin stimulates food intake and growth hormone secretion. *Endocrinology*, 141, 4325-8.
- WU, J., QIAN, J., LI, C., et al. 2010. miR-129 regulates cell proliferation by downregulating Cdk6 expression. *Cell Cycle*, 9, 1809-18.
- WU, X., LIU, F., YAO, X., et al. 2007. Growth hormone receptor expression is up-regulated during tumorigenesis of human colorectal cancer. *J Surg Res*, 143, 294-9.
- XIAO, C. & RAJEWSKY, K. 2009. MicroRNA control in the immune system: basic principles. *Cell*, 136, 26-36.
- XIE, B., DING, Q., HAN, H., et al. 2013. miRCancer: a microRNA-cancer association database constructed by text mining on literature. *Bioinformatics*, 29, 638-44.
- XIE, X., LU, J., KULBOKAS, E. J., et al. 2005. Systematic discovery of regulatory motifs in human promoters and 3' UTRs by comparison of several mammals. *Nature*, 434, 338-45.
- XU, J. & MESSINA, J. L. 2009. Crosstalk between growth hormone and insulin signaling. *Vitam Horm*, 80, 125-53.
- XU, J., SUN, D., JIANG, J., et al. 2013. The role of prolactin receptor in GH signaling in breast cancer cells. *Mol Endocrinol*, 27, 266-79.
- XU, J., ZHANG, Y., BERRY, P. A., et al. 2011. Growth hormone signaling in human T47D breast cancer cells: potential role for a growth hormone receptor-prolactin receptor complex. *Mol Endocrinol*, 25, 597-610.
- YAKAR, S., PENNISI, P., KIM, C. H., et al. 2005. Studies involving the GH-IGF axis: Lessons from IGF-I and IGF-I receptor gene targeting mouse models. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 28, 19-22.
- YAKAR, S., ROSEN, C. J., BEAMER, W. G., et al. 2002. Circulating levels of IGF-I directly regulate bone growth and density. *J Clin Invest*, 110, 771-81.

- YAMAUCHI, T., KABURAGI, Y., UEKI, K., et al. 1998. Growth hormone and prolactin stimulate tyrosine phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1, -2, and -3, their association with p85 phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3-kinase), and concomitantly PI3kinase activation via JAK2 kinase. J Biol Chem, 273, 15719-26.
- YANAIHARA, N., CAPLEN, N., BOWMAN, E., et al. 2006. Unique microRNA molecular profiles in lung cancer diagnosis and prognosis. *Cancer Cell*, 9, 189-98.
- YANG, X., HUANG, P., WANG, F., et al. 2012. Growth hormone receptor expression in human primary gastric adenocarcinoma. *J Biomed Res*, 26, 307-14.
- YANG, X., LIU, F., XU, Z., et al. 2004. Growth hormone receptor expression in human colorectal cancer. *Dig Dis Sci*, 49, 1493-8.
- YANG, X. D., LIU, F. K., XU, Z., et al. 2005. [Growth hormone receptor expression in human colorectal cancer and its implication]. *Zhonghua Wei Chang Wai Ke Za Zhi*, 8, 252-4.
- YARBRO, E. S. & HOWARDS, S. S. 1987. Vasovasostomy. Urol Clin North Am, 14, 515-26.
- **YU, J. H., SCHWARTZBAUER, G., KAZLMAN, A., et al.** 1999. Role of the Sp family of transcription factors in the ontogeny of growth hormone receptor gene expression. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 34327-36.
- **YUE, J. & TIGYI, G.** 2010. Conservation of miR-15a/16-1 and miR-15b/16-2 clusters. *Mamm Genome*, 21, 88-94.
- ZHANG, B., PAN, X., COBB, G. P., et al. 2007a. microRNAs as oncogenes and tumor suppressors. *Dev Biol*, 302, 1-12.
- **ZHANG, F., ZHANG, Q., TENGHOLM, A., et al.** 2006. Involvement of JAK2 and Src kinase tyrosine phosphorylation in human growth hormone-stimulated increases in cytosolic free Ca2+ and insulin secretion. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 291, C466-75.
- ZHANG, X., MEHTA, R. G., LANTVIT, D. D., et al. 2007b. Inhibition of estrogenindependent mammary carcinogenesis by disruption of growth hormone signaling. *Carcinogenesis*, 28, 143-50.
- **ZHANG, Y., DAI, Y., HUANG, Y., et al.** 2009. Microarray profile of micro-ribonucleic acid in tumor tissue from cervical squamous cell carcinoma without human papillomavirus. *J Obstet Gynaecol Res*, 35, 842-9.
- **ZHANG, Y., GUAN, R., JIANG, J., et al.** 2001. Growth hormone (GH)-induced dimerization inhibits phorbol ester-stimulated GH receptor proteolysis. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 24565-73.
- **ZHAO, Y., LI, C., WANG, M., et al.** 2013. Decrease of miR-202-3p Expression, a Novel Tumor Suppressor, in Gastric Cancer. *PLoS One*, 8, e69756.

- **ZHOU, J. & WANG, W.** 2011. Analysis of microRNA expression profiling identifies microRNA-503 regulates metastatic function in hepatocellular cancer cell. *J Surg Oncol*, 104, 278-83.
- **ZHU, T., LING, L. & LOBIE, P. E.** 2002. Identification of a JAK2-independent pathway regulating growth hormone (GH)-stimulated p44/42 mitogen-activated protein kinase activity. GH activation of Ral and phospholipase D is Src-dependent. *J Biol Chem*, 277, 45592-603.
- ZVONIC, S., PTITSYN, A. A., KILROY, G., et al. 2007. Circadian oscillation of gene expression in murine calvarial bone. *J Bone Miner Res*, 22, 357-65.